The University of Maine

DigitalCommons@UMaine

Honors College

Spring 5-2024

Intrinsically Career-Motivated Women & Motherhood

Paige Allen University of Maine - Main, paige.allen@maine.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/honors



Part of the Family, Life Course, and Society Commons

Recommended Citation

Allen, Paige, "Intrinsically Career-Motivated Women & Motherhood" (2024). Honors College. 887. https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/honors/887

This Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors College by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine. For more information, please contact um.library.technical.services@maine.edu.

INTRINSICALLY CAREER-MOTIVATED WOMEN & MOTHERHOOD

by

Paige Katherine Allen

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for a Degree with Honors (Sociology)

The Honors College

University of Maine

May 2024

Advisory Committee:

Dr. Daniel Puhlman, Director of the Parenting Relationships Research Lab & Assistant Professor of Family Studies, Advisor

Dr. Brian Pitman, Lecturer, Department of Sociology, Anthropology and Criminal Justice (Clemson University)

Dr. Michael Haedicke, Associate Professor in Sociology

Dr. Elizabeth Neiman, Director of Women's, Gender, and Sexuality Studies & Associate Professor in English

© 2024 Allen

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

The goal of the present study was to identify whether maternal regret was present among career-oriented mothers and understand how intrinsically-career motivated women experience motherhood. Data from 20 qualitative interviews with working mothers were analyzed with modified grounded theory and strategies using open, axial, and selective coding. The study identified four themes and fifteen associated subthemes that represent working mothers' experiences: qualities, skills, conditions, and resources. These themes and the theoretical frames of Bowen's family systems theory, rational choice theory, and intersectionality led to several implications for working mothers. While it is possible to contribute to both work and family, experiences in motherhood are made easier largely by conditions and resources. Additionally, there is a significant misalignment of social expectations of working mothers to what they can accomplish. It should be possible for mothers to commit to work and family without the expectation to "do it all."

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate my Honors College Thesis to my participants. I was fortunate enough to meet the most amazing people through the twenty or so interviews I conducted. They opened up to me and shared their stories of their careers, families, and struggles. Most of our conversations were positive, but a stark portion of my interviews settled around the stigmatization of working mothers and unrealistic expectations of women. In my thesis, I attempt to tell their stories. I implore everyone who reads this thesis (and everyone else) to recognize and reconsider the presence of working mothers in their lives.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my thesis advisor, Dr. Daniel Puhlman, for his tremendous help and guidance in completing this project. I began volunteering and working for Dr. Puhlman in my first year of college in the Parenting Relationships Research Lab. With his guidance, I have been able to contribute to several research projects in parenting that helped me prepare for this thesis. Without his help, I could not have completed this project, let alone a project of this magnitude.

I would also like to thank my professors at the University of Maine, mainly Dr. Amy Blackstone, Dr. Elizabeth Neiman, Dr. Michael Haedicke, Dr. Brian Pitman, Dr. Michael Swacha, Dr. Mark Raymond, and others who have had a profound impact on my academic success. I have learned more than I could have ever imagined during my time in Orono, and I have them to thank. Their influence is an unseen but important component of my thesis.

Lastly, I would also like to thank my friends and other forms of support. I was awarded a McGillicuddy Humanities Center Fellowship for this project, which was invaluable for support and a community on campus. My friends and community helped me to bounce around ideas, listen to the occasional grumble, and push me to finish.

Thank you so much to my found community at the University of Maine and their help in my Honors Thesis.

PREFACE/FOREWORD

"A Mother's Day Poem"

I know you are reading this poem as you pace beside the stove warming milk, a crying child on your shoulder, a book in your hand because life is short and you too are thirsty.

I know you are reading this poem which is not in your language guessing at some words while others keep you reading and I want to know which words they are.

I know you are reading this poem listening for something, torn between bitterness and hope

turning back once again to the task you cannot refuse.

I know you are reading this poem because there is nothing else

left to read

there where you have landed, stripped as you are.

-Adrienne Rich

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS			
INTR	ODUCTION		1
LITERATURE REVIEW			3
	Motherhood		3
	Maternal Reg	ret, Child-free, and the Absence of Children	8
	Working Mot	thers	11
	Intrinsically M	Motivated Working Mothers	15
	Theoretical F	rames	17
	Current Study	Y	20
METHODOLOGY			21
	Inclusion Crit	teria	21
	Procedure		23
	Sample		24
	Grounded Th	eory	24
	Data Analysis	S	25
	Reflexive Exp	perience of Researchers	26
FINDINGS			27
	Qualities		28
		Sacrifice	28
		Strong Core Values	30
	Skills		33

	Balance	33	
	Intentionality	34	
Conditions		36	
	Work Conditions	37	
	Flexible Work Environment	37	
	Family-Friendly Work Environment	38	
	Women Leading Women	39	
	Family Conditions	41	
	Small Family Size	41	
	Age of Children	42	
	Partner Support	43	
	Division of Labor	44	
	Social Conditions	45	
	Workplace Social Policies	46	
	Cultural Expectations of Women	47	
Resources		49	
Finance	es	50	
Externa	l Support Networks	51	
DISCUSSION		53	
Theoretical F	rames	54	
Qualitative D	Qualitative Discussion		
Implications		61	
	Social Implications	61	

Who is Left Behind?	63	
Areas for Future Research	64	
CONCLUSION	66	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	67	
APPENDICES	74	
Appendix A: Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval Letter	74	
Appendix B: Recruitment Message & Flyer	75	
Appendix C: Screening Survey	77	
Appendix D: Follow-Up Email	84	
Appendix E: Demographic Survey	85	
Appendix F: Informed Consent	90	
Appendix G: Interview Script	92	
Appendix H: Demographic Chart	94	
AUTHOR'S BIOGRAPHY		

INTRODUCTION

Imagine you have just completed a large project at work. You breathe a sigh of relief and satisfaction of a job well done. You are excited about the progress that you and your team have accomplished today and look forward to embarking on a new project tomorrow. You sneak out of the office a couple minutes early to catch the second half of your son's soccer game. He forgot to put his dirty (formerly) white socks in the hamper the night before, so they were not washed in the early morning load of laundry while completing some last-minute preparation for work this morning. His socks, a few shades muddier than everyone else on the field, are the first thing you notice.

Another mother on the sidelines is chatting about a school social tomorrow. Panicked, you remember that you were supposed to volunteer but committed to dinner with a friend that you have been meaning to catch up with for months. You push it off and tell yourself that you will volunteer extra at the next school event. The other mother turns up her nose but you cannot possibly make time for it.

After the game, you arrive home to a crockpot dinner that your partner prepped last night and you put on before work. You are relieved to spend some much-needed time with family after a long day but cannot help to dread the endless sea of tasks that await you as soon as you wake up. You look at your phone to see a text message from your childless sister asking about an early morning workout class (with the hint that you need to lose weight), an email from your boss, and a text from your teenager in the next room about a bake sale. When will there ever be a break?

For many people that you see every day at work, the grocery store, or in passing, this resembles a wisp of their daily thought process---being pulled in many directions

while trying to exceed all expectations. Working mothers balance their families, careers, and much more, striving to fulfill the demands of those areas while facing impossible social norms about their lifestyles.

Intensive mothering, first coined by Sharon Hays (1996) describes a mother's wholehearted commitment to her children and family (Gunderson & Barrett, 2017; Grosse, 2022). While mothers may pursue areas outside of their families (a career, social life, hobbies) they are still held to the standards of intensive mothering. Despite an overwhelming majority of mothers working (Schmidt et al., 2023) they are still held to this expectation and a similar intensive expectation at work (Arendell, 2000; Niemisto et al., 2021). Naturally, some things fall through the cracks and working mothers must choose to prioritize what is most important to them (Christopher, 2012; Rizzo et al., 2013; Budds, 2021). Despite prioritization, mothers still face harmful social expectations parallel to intensive mothering (Hays, 1996; Gunderson & Barrett, 2017).

In my thesis, I aim to better understand motherhood, maternal regret, and working mothers and contribute to the scholarly literature on understanding the experiences of intrinsically career-motivated mothers. It is my hope that the findings from this study illuminate the experiences of mothers who are dedicated to their careers and families and identify places where mothers could benefit from additional support and improved services. This thesis explores motherhood in the context of intrinsically career-oriented women through two key research questions:

1. Do mothers with expansive careers possess a heightened sense of maternal regret, especially surrounding possible missed career opportunities?

2.	How mothers experience having children and an expansive career? Is it possible
2.	for women to do both, and can they do it all?
	for women to do both, and can they do it air?

LITERATURE REVIEW

Motherhood

Many scholars have attempted to contextualize motherhood. It has been contextualized as 'the state of being a mother' (Roy, 2016, p. 25), a social institution defined as women raising children (Berg, 2008), and/or the performance of motherhood (Elvin-Nowak & Thomsson, 2001). What is common across most of these definitions is that mothering focuses on a person who does the relational and logistical work of childrearing, specifically the "social practices of nurturing and caring for dependent children" (Arendell, 2004, p. 1192). For this study, mothering and motherhood are viewed as "dynamic social interactions and relationships, located in a societal context organized by gender and in accord with the prevailing gender belief system" (Arendell, 2004, p. 1193). Motherhood is ever-changing and is both individual and collective, shaped by experiences and influenced by larger societal structures (Arendell, 2000; Niemisto et al., 2021). Additionally, the definition of motherhood varies significantly by socioeconomic status, race, age, area, level of support, and other external factors (Collins, 1994; Grosse, 2022).

In North America, the prevailing ideology of motherhood is *intensive mothering* (Hays, 1996; Arendell, 2004; Budds, 2021), first categorized by Sharon Hays. Hays (1996) defines intensive mothering as an exclusive, wholly child-centered, emotionally involved, and time-consuming interaction with children. This type of mother does not think of herself; her primary role is to exist for the needs of others. This conception of motherhood is wrapped into idealized notions of the family: nuclear, middle-class, white, and heterosexual. These mothers have a substantially easier time truly subscribing to

intensive mothering and operating outside external social forces that more frequently affect marginalized women (Thorne & Yalom, 1982; Budds, 2021). Mothers belonging to marginalized groups have a much harder time meeting this unrealistic, intensive expectation of motherhood because of social forces like racial discrimination, exclusion from healthcare, and income inequality (Collins, 2022).

While many mothers defy the standard of *intensive mothering*, it is pervasive and reinforced by society through family leave policies and media portrayals of mothers within the nuclear family (Rizzo et al., 2013; Gunderson & Barrett, 2017). Mothers of varied socioeconomic status, blended families, and those with high career aspirations inherently contradict intensive mothering because they focus on matters and interests outside their children (Christopher, 2012; Dow, 2015; Budds, 2021). Most types of workl do not allow for many mothers to engage in intensive mothering because of the job's requirements to spend time away from their children (Rizzo et al., 2013). However, different jobs allow mothers to get closer to the standard of intensive mothering. For example, careers with hours reminiscent of a school schedule allow mothers to subscribe closer to intensive mothering. Marginalized mothers historically have held jobs with nontraditional schedules (evening shifts for factory workers or dinner shifts for restaurant staff) and lower pay, or they have had a more difficult time obtaining higher education or higher-status jobs because of systemic racism (Collins, 2022), making it more difficult to subscribe to intensive mothering (Christopher, 2012). Unfortunately, although manifestations of motherhood are culturally specific, the constraining effects of intensive motherhood are widespread and affect mothers disproportionally (Rizzo et al., 2013; Niemisto et al., 2021; Budds, 2021).

Mothers are one of the primary people in a child's life responsible for their socialization into society (Forcey, 2001; Lester, 2015). Much of what mothers *do*, or maternal practice, is raising children. Mothers share the activities related to childrearing even though they vary as individuals and exist in different cultures (Ruddick, 1994). While mothers and parents have varying parenting philosophies, they generally aim to raise happy, healthy children (Niemistö et al., 2021; Grosse, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2023). In this sense, motherhood as a practice constantly changes because the "dependent children" continually evolve (Leonard, 1996; Huopalainen & Satama, 2019). As a mother grows and progresses, so do her children.

Intensive mothering suggests that children are the whole of motherhood. However, motherhood involves more than raising children. In addition to raising children, a key practice of motherhood is domestic labor completed in the home. In Arlie Hochschild's *The Second Shift* (1989), she argues that mothers do proportionately more housework (thus, a "double day" of work) than fathers. Contemporary studies confirm Hochschild's research; however, they suggest that the divide in the household is not as extreme as Hochschild first claimed (Milkie et al., 2009). Another concept related to domestic labor performed by mothers is the concept of "invisible" household work introduced by Daniels (1987). She categorizes the household's "unseen" work as scheduling doctor's appointments, making grocery lists, keeping track of the family, and housekeeping and childcare work that generally goes unnoticed and undervalued. Scholars who research family and work agree that women and mothers do more household labor than their male counterparts, whether for unseen "invisible work" or

directly caring for the home (Daniels, 1987; Erickson, 2005; Milkie et al., 2009; Schmidt et al., 2023).

Motherhood is most commonly associated with women and femininity (Glenn et al., 1994) and, for many mothers, is intimately tied to their identities (Arendell, 2004; Niemistö et al., 2021). Even women of childbearing age who do not have children, by choice or by infertility, are impacted by the ideas of motherhood, which shape their identity (Berg, 2008). Feminism has introduced a different kind of motherhood in the last couple of decades, defying the ideas of traditional, wholly child-focused intensive motherhood (Adams, 1955; Johnston & Swanson, 2006; Schmidt et al., 2023).

Additionally, feminist scholarship has created diverse definitions of motherhood, including minority and working/lower-income class definitions that defy the intensive standard of motherhood (Collins, 1994; Glenn et al., 1994). These definitions highlight the diverse ways that mothers navigate their lives through varying social, political, and economic structures, emphasizing the multifaceted and dynamic phenomenon of motherhood (Glenn et al., 1994; Collins, 2000; Budds, 2021). More contemporary versions of motherhood refer to how discourses around motherhood have shifted in Western culture and how (hetero)normative, repressive, and static ideals surrounding motherhood can be challenged or changed (Huopalaninen & Satama, 2019; Schmidt et al., 2023). While these modern ideas and conceptions of motherhood are beginning to swell, intensive mothering (which parallels white, middle-class, and heterosexual mothers) and the associated expectations remain dominant (Budds, 2021; Schmidt et al., 2023).

Motherhood is also a deeply personal and individually defined role, and every mother has a unique definition of motherhood. Unique conceptions result from diverse experiences and access to resources and can also be tied to mothers' experiences as women (Glenn et al., 1994; Arendell, 2004; Rizzo et al., 2013). Marginalized women, on average, have less access to resources, support systems, and childcare, making their conceptions of motherhood vastly different from those who are not marginalized (Collins, 2000; Savas, 2010). While the conception of motherhood is changing in tandem with feminist discourse, cultural expectations around mothers remain rigid (Grosse, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2023).

Maternal Regret, Child-free, and the Absence of Children

The research on motherhood has established that this important role is varied and dynamic, with major social influences contributing to how women across demographic groups enact the role. What is less well-defined and explored in the literature is a discussion of how women engage in the ideas of motherhood in less traditional ways, or not at all (Blackstone, 2019; Niemistö et al., 2021). Some women who become mothers may regret their decision to have children and have feelings such as anger or guilt as a result, wishing for their lives before raising kids (Donath, 2015; Blackstone, 2019). Other women never become mothers through choice or infertility, which can be challenging due to social expectations. Just as important as those who are mothers are those who reject the ideals of motherhood, and why.

Some women choose not to have children, known as being "child-free" or voluntarily childless (Blackstone, 2019; Neal & Neal, 2024). Child-free adults are the most common type of non-parent in the United States (Neal & Neal, 2024). Because

child-free adults choose not to have children, they are distinctly different from those who desire to have children but have not yet become parents. The number of child-free women is increasing, as suggested by data from the National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG), which indicated that the percentage of child-free women ages 15 to 49 has increased from six percent in 2010 to just under ten percent in 2019 (U.S. Centers for Disease Control). People become child-free for many reasons, including not wanting children, health concerns, career plans, access to healthcare, gender equality, political climate, and economic factors (Blackstone, 2019; Neal & Neal, 2024). For some people, becoming child-free is a choice; they would rather explore a life without children. For others, social forces like discrimination against minorities, low pay, career instability, and access to healthcare limit their ability to support children, forcing them to be child-free.

For some mothers who choose to have children, unexpected negative feelings may be significant for them, resulting in feelings of regret. Maternal regret, or the emotional and cognitive stance of regret towards motherhood, is one aspect of motherhood that has yet to be deeply explored (Donath, 2015; Piotrowski, 2021). Donath (2015) explains maternal regret as being distinct from the object (children) and central to the experience (maternity), highlighting that most mothers who experience maternal regret do so outside the relationship with their child(ren) and towards the expectations associated with motherhood. Much taboo surrounds this topic because so many associate maternal regret with the regret of specific children (Donath, 2015). However, some research suggests that those who experience maternal regret do not relate it to their children but associate it with a detachment from maternal identities (Donath, 2015; Piotrowski, 2021).

Piotrowski indicates that the percentage of parents who regret parenthood is "characterized by a higher level of adverse childhood experiences, have poorer psychological and somatic health, are more vulnerable to social evaluation, and experience a strong parental identity crisis and parental burnout" (2021, p. 1).

Furthermore, regretting parenthood is "associated with the parent's financial situation and marital status, along with having children with special needs" (Piotrowski, 2021, p. 3).

Many factors impact the presence of regret for parents, most of which are correlated with socioeconomic status.

The correlation between parental regret and socioeconomic status conveys that parental and maternal regret is further correlated with limited access to resources. Minorities and people of low socioeconomic status historically have less access to resources (Collins, 2000; Savas, 2010; Christopher, 2013). This suggests that minorities and those of lower socioeconomic status may be more likely to be detached from maternal ideals and less likely to fulfill the ideals of motherhood (Savas, 2010; Niemistö et al., 2021). After having children, it is more difficult for minority and lowsocioeconomic mothers to obtain consistent and low-cost childcare, have a long and stable pattern of partner support, and work in jobs that maintain a regular work schedule (Savas, 2010; Collins, 2022). This makes motherhood more difficult, and some mothers become frustrated with fulfilling their own expectations of motherhood, potentially leading to feelings of regret (Donath, 2015). Because maternal regret is more concerned with a detachment from maternal ideals than regretting children (Donath, 2015), social factors associated with motherhood are crucial to examine when discussing maternal regret.

It is important to note that minorities and those of lower socioeconomic status have limited access to reproductive healthcare, abortions, sexual education, and educational opportunities (Collins, 2000; Savas, 2010; Dermott & Pomati, 2016).

Therefore, racial minorities and people of lower economic wealth may possess higher levels of maternal and parental regret (Donath, 2015; Piotrowski, 2021) because they face systems of oppression, such as racism, implicit bias, and career opportunities that limit fulfillment in motherhood. Mothers of color and varied socioeconomic status may have different experiences in motherhood than their privileged counterparts because of existing social structures. Being child-free and possessing maternal regret have important implications when discussing motherhood. Some women with children regret their entry into motherhood, whether or not the decision was conscious, which can stem from their disconnection from maternal ideals and/or inability to fulfill those ideals because of social constraints and not their individual children (Leonard, 1996; Elvin-Nowak & Thomsson, 2001; Ornath, 2015).

Working Mothers

In the last several decades, mothers' employment rates have risen exponentially. By 2010, approximately two-thirds of North American mothers with young children worked outside the home (Almey, 2010). In 2022, 70.2% of U. S. mothers in heterosexual married-couple families were employed, up two percentage points from the year prior (U.S. Department of Labor, 2022). Although the number of working mothers is growing, the dominant expectations and government social support of women remain the same (Grosse, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2023); mothers are expected to commit their time and resources to their children. In addition to the expectations of motherhood, employers also

expect working mothers to represent the ideal employee (Johnston & Swanson, 2007; Niemistö et al., 2021). As more and more mothers work outside the home, a realistic conceptualization of motherhood must expand to involve working mothers.

One key area to consider is the impacts of maternal work on minority families.

The separation between work and motherhood is a distinctly white concept—mothers of color have a more integrated view of work and family than their white counterparts (Christopher, 2012). They have historically not possessed the luxury of choosing whether or not to work, and mothers of color have traditionally held employment to support their families (Collins, 2000; Savas, 2010). Because mothers of color have always worked, there is little divide between motherhood and their labor outside the home. While minority mothers have typically worked, they have historically held lower-status jobs than their white counterparts (Savas, 2010). Mothers of color have significantly different experiences than those of white mothers, which also intersects with socioeconomic status (Collins, 1994, 2022; Lamphere et al., 1993; Savas, 2010). For mothers of color, wholly committing themselves to their children (intensive mothering) has never been a choice. They experience motherhood differently than white, class-privileged mothers (Collins, 2000; Christopher, 2011, 2012).

Sociologists have identified traditional hegemonic ideologies that influence women's work and family decisions (Dow, 2015). These ideologies assert that a) a mother's primary responsibility is childrearing and a fathers is breadwinning (Blair-Loy, 2003, 2005; Uttal, 1996, 1999; Dow, 2015), b) mothering should occur in a self-sufficient nuclear family (Hays, 1996; Macdonald, 2011), and c) employment conflicts with motherhood (Blair-Loy 2003; Damaske, 2011). These ideologies are modern creations

that emerged in white, middle-class families during the Industrial Revolution (Segura, 1991) and have left their mark on society (Dow, 2015; Grosse, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2023). However, many mothers defy these expectations, working outside the home and relying on external support networks (Christopher, 2012). Being a working mother inherently requires a deviation from the standard of traditional motherhood (Arendell, 2004; Rizzo et al., 2013; Gunderson & Barrett, 2017).

Sharon Hays, author of *The Cultural Contradictions of Motherhood*, conducted in-depth interviews with 38 mothers of preschoolers. She coined the idea of intensive mothering, or that mothers only exist for their children (1996; Rizzo et al., 2013; Budds, 2021). Hays found that the employed women in her sample did not meet the expectations of intensive mothering. Employed women were "pressed for time, a little guilty, a bit inadequate, and somewhat ambivalent about their positions" (Hays, 1996, p. 89). Hays also found that the employed women in her sample justified their employment and careers by what they could provide for their children and families rather than themselves. Other scholars expand on this idea by arguing that mothers place themselves within ideological expectations of intensive mothering (Garey, 1995, 2006; Rizzo et al., 2013; Budds, 2021) but reframe their careers by their commitment to intensive mothering when they are not at work. Intensive mothering is a strain and forces working mothers to question their commitment to motherhood, as jobs and careers inherently contradict the ideology.

Contemporary studies have begun to explore how employed mothers manage the expectations of intensive motherhood (Christopher, 2012; Rizzo et al., 2013; Budds, 2021; Grosse, 2022). These mothers viewed working as complementary, not

contradictory, to motherhood. Some mothers from their samples claimed that working made them better mothers. Hattery identified three mothers who "worked outside the home, strongly identified with their careers, believed their children thrived in public childcare settings and did not report feeling guilty about their decisions; they said that they were 'better mothers when they pursue their own interests and have time away from their children'" (2001, p. 28). Hochschild claimed that mothers increasingly work long hours to avoid stressful home lives (1997). Johnston and Swanson (2006) ask 'where are the full-time employed mothers who work for the sake of their career identity...yet still strongly identify with their parenting role?". Johnston and Swanson (2007) later conducted in-depth interviews with 98 married mothers. They found that mothers were ultimately unable to escape the idea of intensive motherhood, instead choosing to reframe both motherhood and their careers to fit within the ideology of intensive motherhood (Johnston & Swanson, 2007; Christopher, 2012).

Although all working mothers have to overcome systemic barriers to balancing work and home, mothers belonging to minority groups have additional obstacles in achieving this balance. Mothers of color have historically worked to support their families. However, they have not traditionally held high-paying or high-status positions. This is largely due to the opportunity gap and occupational segregation (Savas, 2010), which results in marginalized communities largely holding lower-paid positions. As a result, many mothers of color may not fit a traditional definition of "high-achieving" because being high-achieving usually requires an advantage in terms of race, family and socioeconomic status, and resources (Richie et al., 1997; Savas, 2010). Opportunity to

fulfill high-achieving standards should take an intersectional approach, considering that mothers of color often do not have the same opportunities as white mothers.

Intrinsically Motivated Working Mothers

Extensive mothering, the inverse of intensive mothering, has recently made waves, especially in Western society (Christopher, 2012; Chelsey & Flood, 2017). Christopher (2012) defines extensive mothering as a "way mothers respond to the cultural constructions of the ideal mother and worker and reframe how employment fits into good notions of good mothering in their lives" (p. 73). Contrary to other studies, she identified that many employed mothers "justify their employment by discussing the personal benefits they themselves receive from paid work, in addition to the benefits accrued to their children (Christopher, 2012, p. 74). Her study included a diverse sample, suggesting that a reframing of motherhood along the lines of extensive motherhood is not limited to class-privileged women (Christopher, 2012). If adopted, the ideology of extensive mothering justifies a career and a family (Christopher, 2012; Chelsey & Flood, 2017).

Extensive mothering is promising because it relieves mothers from some of the vast time and guilt required of intensive mothering (Christopher, 2012), freeing them to focus their physical and mental energy on other avenues of their lives. Although the dominant narrative of intensive mothering assumes that mothers have no other interests, many want to work and contribute to society (Christopher, 2012; Niemistö et al., 2021). However, extensive mothering highlights that the division of labor (an egalitarian division) is crucial for working mothers, whether with a partner, childcare, or live-in help (Niemistö, 2021). This defies the cultural expectation in intensive mothering that women are primary caregivers. Although many women are beginning to break the mold of

intensive mothering by exploring extensive mothering, working mothers are still held to the expectations of child-centered, intensive mothering (Christopher, 2012; Grosse, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2023).

I define intrinsically career-motivated mothers as those dedicated to their careers outside of financial and status gains (Blair-Loy, 2003; Niemisto et al., 2021). Intrinsic motivation "often arises from the individual's positive reaction to the task itself, such as interest, involvement, curiosity, satisfaction, or positive challenge, which serves as a type of reward of the work" (Yidong et al., 2013, p. 444). For these mothers, they have an innate desire to work and parent their children, they seek to contribute to the world beyond their families and pursue an area of interest to them. This contradicts intensive mothering because intrinsically career-motivated women are not wholly committed to their children. They are pulled in multiple directions, all equally important to them. While mothers may appreciate financial incentives and the increased social status tied to their career choices, *intrinsic* career motivation indicates an innate desire to work, contribute to their workplaces, and/or better themselves professionally (Roy, 2016; Huopalainen & Satama, 2019).

Many mothers have different interests and career motives. However, intrinsically career-motivated mothers are defined by their desire and need to find fulfillment in their work. This primarily reflects mothers' individual personalities and an innate desire to work and pursue their career passions. Unfortunately, external forces like socioeconomic status, race, and ethnicity can limit who is more generally described as career-motivated. Some interpretations of "career-motivated" might correspond to salary or social status related to job titles, such as doctors or attorneys. Minority mothers and those of lower

socioeconomic status may have a more difficult time fulfilling this interpretation of "career-motivated" because of social barriers to education and wealth (Collins, 2000; 2022; Christopher, 2012). I seek to explore career motivation pertaining to an innate desire to work and contribute to society, no matter the career or profession.

Theoretical Frames

Several key theories are essential for understanding the challenges of contemporary motherhood for women choosing to have a successful career and balancing their families' needs. Bowen's family systems theory states that the family is an emotional unit with multiple interrelated systems. Rational choice theory argues that individuals choose the path that makes the most sense for them, and intersectionality recognizes that pieces of an individual's identity come together in a unique blend of privilege and discrimination. These theories emphasize an understanding of individuality and choice within a family system and guide the study's conceptualization, data collection, analysis, and interpretation of the findings.

Bowen's Family Systems Theory (Bowen, 1972, 1978) defines family as both a relationship system and an emotional system whereby family members influence and are influenced by one another at individual, dyadic, systemic, and intergenerational levels. Bowen argued that the family, like other natural systems, is governed by natural rules, similar to nonhuman groups. He later claimed that two principal factors are uniquely human and relevant to families: chronic anxiety, or the dilemma of maintaining self while making meaningful connections with others, and differentiation of self, or adaptive strategies to regulate such anxiety (Kerr & Bowen, 1988). Family systems are powerful factors that influence all members of the system, and because women are embedded in

both their family of origin (parents, siblings, aunts, grandparents, etc) and their families of procreation (spouse/partner, children, grandchildren, etc.), understanding the unique impacts of these systems is essential (Cox & Paley, 1997).

Only once individuals can manage the conflict between chronic anxiety and differentiation of self are they able to engage in healthy familial and romantic relationships or differentiation of self (DoS) (Erdem & Safi, 2018). DoS is a constant internal push and pull, cutting through families. Additionally, DoS is central to Bowen's Family Systems Theory. DoS determines how family roles, rules, and boundaries are constructed (Erdem & Safi, 2018), manifesting at the intra- and interpersonal levels. Making a distinction between thought and emotional processes and how one relates to significant others and children while maintaining a sense of self is crucial to DoS and Family Systems Theory (Kerr & Bowen, 1988; Erdem & Safi, 2018).

Rational Choice Theory, or RCT, seeks to explain how a person selects one action when several are presented (Voss & Abraham, 2000; Weiske et al., 2015). RTC is based on three simple assumptions:

- 1. Actors (people) have preferences, which are the sum of expectations and evaluations of a specific action option.
- Further underlying conditions include positive (chances) and negative restrictions
 (restraints) of action, which may derive from a myriad of internal and external
 sources (finances, social norms).
- 3. The actors select the action which, among the given constraints, is most promising for implementing their preferences. This is reflective of the subjective expected utility (SEU) theory, or the idea that actors select the option from the available set

of options that seems best suited to achieve their goals (with consideration of the effects) (Savage, 1954; Opp, 1999; Weiske et al., 2015).

Rational Choice Theory applies best when the choices given to each person are laid out and considered. For motivated working mothers with children, these choices may consist of self-care, various aspects of a career, romantic time with a partner, and more.

The final theoretical frame that will be applied to my research is intersectionality. Intersectionality is a popular lens in the social sciences and addresses the question of how "multiple forms of inequality and identity inter-relate in different contexts and over time" (Gillborn, 2015). Critical race theorist Kimberlé Crenshaw first developed intersectionality. She argued that intersectionality is a "concept that enables us to recognize the fact that perceived group membership can make people vulnerable to various forms of bias, yet because we are simultaneously members of many groups, our complex identities can shape the specific way we each experience that bias" (Crenshaw, 1995, p. 1244). An example of this is considering the inter-connectedness, or intersectionality, of race, class, gender, and more when looking at a person's life experiences.

Crenshaw also stated that "an intersectional approach goes beyond conventional analysis in order to focus our attention on injuries that we otherwise might not recognize...to 1) analyze social problems more fully; 2) shape more effective interventions; and 3) promote more inclusive advocacy" (1995, p. 373). Crenshaw claims that intersectionality has two components: an empirical bias (an intersectional approach is needed to better understand social inequities and how they are perpetuated) and an activist framework (1995). Intersectionality aims to "generate coalitions between

different groups with the aim of resisting and changing the status quo" (Gillborn, 2015, p. 279). To understand how sexism (or any other -ism) works, scholars must understand the other intersections that sexism has with "other axes of oppression at different times and in different contexts" (Gillborn, 2015, p. 281). However, Gillborn argues that it is important to "find a balance between remaining sensitive to intersectional issues without being overwhelmed by them" (2015, p. 285), arguing that while scholars should take an intersectional approach, identity is too complex to divide fully. The theoretical framework of intersectionality is crucial when considering participants' life experiences and choices.

Current Study

This study explores how intrinsically career-motivated women experience motherhood. Building on the ideas of Christopher, 2012; Blair-Loy, 2003; Arendell, 2004; Hays, 1996, and the concept of career-driven mothers, I seek to answer 2 key research questions. First, I ask if mothers with expansive careers possess a heightened sense of maternal regret, especially surrounding possible missed career opportunities. Second, I ask how mothers experience having children and an expansive career. Is it possible for women to do both, and can they do it all?

METHODOLOGY

Inclusion Criteria

This study aimed to interview intrinsically career-motivated full-time working mothers. Participants were required to be over 18, English-speaking, self-identify as mothers, and have at least one child living at home between the ages of two and twelve. Participants also needed to meet two out of three of the following criteria to determine who qualified as an intrinsically career-motivated mother: 1) have formal education at or beyond a master's degree, 2) currently serve in a full-time (32 hours per week) management or executive position, and 3) have at least five years of professional experience. These criteria established that women eligible for the study were not new to their career trajectory and showed evidence that they were actively pursuing their careers.

Motherhood was defined as any individual who identified as such and had at least partial custody and legal responsibility over their child or children. This excluded stepmothers and mothers who identified as a mother because they had foster children. The study also excluded mothers of children with diagnosed disabilities that fell under the following categories: mobility/physical, spinal cord, head injuries, vision, hearing, or severe cognitive/learning categories (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). The exclusion of this demographic was intended to control emotions and experiences associated with children's medical history and not inherently having or raising children (Yamanda et al., 2012).

I defined mothers as intrinsically career-motivated if they pursued an advanced degree, had professional experience (not entry-level), and/or held managerial/executive

positions. Having met two of three of these criteria allowed for a more diverse sample of participants. Some professionally oriented women may not have achieved in all areas. For example, not all intrinsically career-motivated mothers had or had access to higher education. Potential participants would still qualify if they possessed five years of experience and served in a managerial or executive position. Additionally, younger participants may not have had the opportunity to serve in a managerial or executive role, so they would still qualify to participate if they had an advanced degree and at least five years of experience as a professional (i.e., a pre-tenured Assistant Professor). These criteria were implemented to ensure participants' dedication to their careers, but only two criteria were necessary to allow for a more diverse sample and broader definition of intrinsically career-motivated (Richie et al., 1997; Savas, 2010).

Participants must have had one child between the ages of two and twelve to participate in the study. Children between the ages of two and twelve require the most active parenting (Clark, 2020) and often require the most attention and focus from their parents. Many children begin to walk, talk, and develop personalities at age two. Mothers exit the new baby phase, allowing their hormones to settle and for them to physically and emotionally return to "normal." Beyond the age of twelve, many children become independent (Eccles, 1999; Lester, 2015), needing less oversight and management.

Targeting mothers with at least one child between the ages of two and twelve ensured that participants were engaged in active parenting. Furthermore, participants needed to work full-time to qualify for the study (at least 32 hours a week). While some mothers are intrinsically motivated and work part-time, they do not experience motherhood the same as mothers who work part-time (Carson et al., 2011).

Procedure

This study was approved (2023-03-19) by the University of Maine Protection of Human Subjects Review Board (Appendix A). Mothers were recruited for the study using a convenience and snowball sampling strategy (Emerson, 2015) through flyers (Appendix B) and announcements posted on social media parenting group pages, emails to university faculty in New England, and the All Maine Women Alumni Network, a senior female and nonbinary honor society at the University of Maine. The study targeted between 15 and 25 participants.

Mothers interested in participating in the study first completed a screening survey to determine eligibility for the research study (Appendix C). Potential participants who met the study's eligibility requirements were sent a follow-up email describing the next steps in the research protocol (Appendix D), including a link to book an hour-long Zoom interview, demographic survey (Appendix E), and confidential research participant number. The three participants who did not meet the criteria for the study were sent a short follow-up email listing why they did not qualify. The confidential research participant number was created using Google Sheets' random number generator (=RANDBETWEEN 1-10000000). Participants were asked to book a one-hour time slot using their research participant number and YouCanBookMe software, and then the researcher sent a unique Zoom link. Each participant was later assigned a pseudonym for ease in coding and reading.

All of the semi-structured interviews took place electronically using the Zoom platform and lasted approximately one hour. I reviewed the research project, discussed the informed consent (Appendix F), and allowed participants to ask questions about the

study and their participation in the project before proceeding with the interview questions (Appendix G). Participants who did not complete the demographic survey before the interview were asked to complete it during the first five minutes of the interview.

Interviews were recorded through Zoom and transcribed using Rev.com. After the interview, as a token of appreciation, participants were provided a five-dollar gift card to Starbucks or the University of Maine System cafeteria.

<u>Sample</u>

Twenty mothers participated in the study and represented a range of ages, incomes, and careers, with children of various ages. All participants identified themselves as White/Caucasian except one who identified as a Pacific Islander. The average age of participants was 41 years, the average income was \$116,850.00, and the average age of the participants' children was 9.88 years. For a more detailed description of the demographic characteristics of the participants, see Table 1, located in Appendix H.

Grounded Theory

A modified grounded theory methodology was used to analyze the data for this study (Glasser & Strauss, 1967). This methodology is based on systematic, recursive, and inductive data analysis to develop a theory specifically related to the research question (Echevarria-Doan & Tubbs, 2005). Glaser and Strauss created grounded theory to "close the embarrassing gap between theory and empirical research" (1967). They argued that the analytical process is a constant interplay between collection and analysis, resulting in a formal framework for generating theory, not verifying it. The theory is flexibly built during the research process, where the researchers are the primary arbiters of data collection and analysis (Glaser, 1978; Glaser & Strauss, 1967; Strauss & Corbin, 1998).

Because there is little research on the intersections of a desired career and motherhood, I decided to pursue grounded theory to allow for a new framework that can be applied to future research.

Data Analysis

The coding process was completed in a few different phrases. The first interviews were completed in the early summer of 2023, and researchers met to discuss emerging themes and ideas. After a pause, the second half of data collection was completed in early autumn of 2023, and the researchers met during this process to discuss emerging themes from the data. After all data collection was complete, the researchers thoroughly read over each interview and left comments about potential themes as they appeared. Next, the researchers agreed upon ten to twelve key themes that emerged in each interview. This is known as open coding, or examining the data's discrete parts (interviews) (Williams & Moser, 2019). Looking at all interviews, the research team then identified prominent codes that suggested themes among participants. This is axial coding, or drawing connections between codes across individual parts (Williams & Moser, 2019). Finally, the research team sorted the axial codes into central categories, called selective coding (Williams & Moser, 2019). This process, also called "focused coding" (Charmaz, 1995), is a top-down process confirming a comprehensive data analysis.

All research team members read over and coded the data to minimize biases and ensure thorough data analysis. Many discussions with the team were also held during the coding and analysis process in an attempt to extract as much information as possible.

This process is known as triangulation in data analysis (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2007).

While it is impossible to eradicate all potential biases, multiple research team members examined the data in an attempt to honor participants' experiences.

Reflexive Experience of Researchers

The primary researcher and student is a 20-year-old white female college student. Implicit biases may include race and affinity (the tendency to favor people like yourself) (Hodkinson & Macleod, 2010). Both of my parents worked my entire childhood, with careers in guidance and civil engineering. I currently reside in rural Orono, Maine, where I have spent most of the last three years attending school at the University of Maine. I have a major in Sociology and minors in Legal Studies, Ethics & Political Philosophy, and Women, Gender, and Sexuality Studies in the Honors College. The other two researchers included Lauren Davis, a Graduate Assistant in the Parenting Relationships Research Lab, and Dr. Daniel Puhlman, Faculty Advisor and Director of the Parenting Relationships Research Lab. Ms. Davis is a white student who obtained her undergraduate degree in Canada. Dr. Puhlman is a highly educated middle-class white male who studied in Pennsylvania and Florida before teaching at the University of Maine.

FINDINGS

The data obtained from this study was analyzed to address the two key research questions that were posed earlier in this paper. The first research question stated whether intrinsically career-motivated women experienced maternal regret. Although I had anticipated that mothers would likely have some regret around their decision to have children, none of the participants specifically indicated that they regretted having children. Some mothers did report that they regretted aspects of having children, but not the decision to have children. They looked back on their experiences before children, stressing that they had more time to commit to aspects of their lives besides their families, but expressed overall positive feelings around their children. Ragan stated...

I don't regret having kids. And I do think back on my life and I'm like, oh, there's some really great pieces of that life. But ultimately, I absolutely love going on adventures with them, going on trips with them, traveling with them. It's so cool to see these two humans grow up and develop.

While Ragan wished for the time and flexibility she possessed before her children, she emphasized that she did not regret having her children. Hope expressed similar sentiments to Ragan, stating, "I certainly don't regret having children, nor do I regret my career, nor do I regret my ambition. I've accomplished a lot over the years. And there's pride in that. Have some things been achieved at the sake of other things?

Absolutely." While Hope was firm in her stance of not experiencing regret after having children, she did emphasize sacrifice to balance her career and family. Participants did not experience maternal regret but instead highlighted the various aspects of their lives that aided them in accomplishing their family and career goals.

The second research question in this study focused on how intrinsically careermotivated mothers experience motherhood. In analyzing the data to address this research
question, four major themes emerged among career-oriented mothers: qualities, skills,
conditions, and resources that aided them in successfully balancing work and family.

Positive qualities, skills, conditions, and resources represented having a more positive
experience of motherhood and their management of a work-life balance, and negative
conditions and a lack of resources made their experiences more difficult.

Qualities

This theme illustrates distinct personal attributes or characteristics that mothers identified in their experiences of motherhood. Mothers often referred to aspects of their personality or their values that were instrumental drivers in how they engaged with their work and family environments. Participants discussed specific qualities that were grouped into two sub-themes that emerged from the data: sacrifice and having a strong identity. Sacrifice was defined as the nature of forgoing your own priorities in pursuit of something greater. Identity refers to strong core values that exist across participants' ideologies, parenting philosophies, and careers. These two key qualities aided them in their experiences and the balance of their careers and motherhood.

Sacrifice

Twelve participants (n=12) explicitly mentioned the need to make sacrifices in various areas of their lives. Sacrifice, or forgoing your own priorities in pursuit of something else, was necessary for participants to devote the time needed for their careers and families. Sacrifice was considered a quality because participants referred to it as a central personal characteristic. Specifically, participants who identified sacrifice

mentioned it multiple times, indicating that it was something they possessed rather than a one-time occurrence. This sub-theme was critical for participants because their families and careers demanded a large portion of their time and energy—being able to attend to every aspect of their lives was nearly impossible. Participants expressed the theme of sacrifice through stories of grappling with what they needed to give up to either put themselves first or excel at work with a family. While the specifics of what mothers sacrificed in their lives differed (sleep, nutrition, education, a larger career, time with friends and family, teaching their children, and more), participants viewed sacrifice as a necessary quality.

Mothers discussed an internal process where they had to navigate between putting themselves and their families' needs first. Many participants did not sacrifice everything in their lives or their entire careers, but they did need to change their timeline or reduce the scope or frequency of their goals to make things work. Hannah made the choice to start her graduate program for herself, but that came with added sacrifices in other aspects of her life. She stated...

I won't call it a sacrifice. I'll call it the things that I wish I could do, but I can't for a very good reason...The biggest one was my Ph.D. I needed to wait for my husband to finish his graduate program because I knew that having two people in graduate programs plus me working full-time would not happen...I had to wait for the kids to be older, for my husband to be in the workforce.

Hannah identified that she needed to sacrifice her pursuit of a Ph.D. in order to preserve the best interests of her family. She sacrificed the timing of her graduate program until it was the right time for her family, letting go of personal fulfillment and professional betterment through higher education.

Hope described her personal sacrifice, noting that she gave up sleep, good nutrition, and time with her family for her career. She stated...

Sleep, I would think, but I'd describe being a working parent as terrible calculus because something always loses, and often it's you. I mean, because that's the choice you make. there have been times in my career where I've definitely sacrificed nutrition and wellbeing and not working out as much and things like that.

Sleep was referred to by several mothers as part of their sacrifice, stating that there was not enough time in the day to accomplish everything, and they stayed up late to work while their families were sleeping. Ellie discussed sleep sacrifice, which impacted her long-term health. She said, "Sleep is a good one...Every time I have my physical and talk to my doctor about ways I want to be more healthy, she always says to incorporate better sleep." While participants varied in what they sacrificed, they often gave up, delayed, or adjusted personal goals and their health to meet the needs of their careers and families.

Strong Core Values

The second key quality that many mothers (n=13) possessed was a strong sense of identity. This was evident through their core values, which were often connected to both their work and parenting/family lives. Core values are defined as concepts or beliefs that guide the selection or evaluation of behavior and events. Examples of core values included communication, kindness, hard work, inclusivity, resilience, patience, education, and more. These core values were central to mothers, and they modeled these qualities to their children, in their workplaces, and with their partners, conveying a strong and grounded identity.

Mothers in this study clearly identified that holding onto their core values in the workplace was essential to their success. When asked about her career, Sadie said she is

most invested in companies that share her core values and beliefs. Sadie, reflecting on her career journey, stated that...

This is one of the first jobs in a while where I've been able to say, I really, really enjoy my job. I'm a very mission-motivated person, so I've really appreciated the mission of all of the organizations that I've worked for. It's important to me that I can stand behind the mission if I'm going to ask other people to commit their resources to it.

Throughout the interview, Sadie made reference to her company's culture and how it paralleled her own core values: "It's a humanitarian organization, and so I think it attracts a lot of people who are intrinsically motivated to help others, like myself."

Amelia also identified that she holds onto her core values in her work. She stated...

I'm brutally honest. I always believe that's just the way I am. I want people to be honest with me, and I feel like people know what they're getting with me...I think I've done a pretty good job. I've been there 25 years, getting along with people by being honest.

Mothers also identified that they held onto their core values in their family life, specifically related to parenting. Sadie expressed the importance of holding onto her values in this area when she stated, "Being really clear that academics are really important, that school is important, staying physically active, being kind." Amelia also emphasized the importance of holding onto her core values in her parenting, stating, "My style is a lot of honesty...I like to be very upfront with my children and want to know what they're doing." Sadie and Amelia were two examples of participants with core values that existed across multiple areas of their lives, conveying a strong sense of identity. Bridgit remarked that "Leading people is remarkably similar to parenting children" and that she is "pretty consistent across the board," citing leadership, compassion, and logic at home and work.

Another common way that mothers expressed their commitment to their core values was to share and model them with their children through their parenting. Hannah expressed this sentiment by involving her children in the work that she loves. Hannah stated...

I wake up in the morning. I'm excited to go to work. I take a lot of pride in the work that I do. I involve my children in the work that I do. They come to events with me...So for me, the work that I do is very closely related to who I am as a person, and I take a lot of pride in the accomplishments of our team and our students.

Hannah emphasizes the closeness of her work to her identity and how she desires to share that with her children. Other participants also involved their children in their work, taking them along for travel or a day in the office. Ragan explained that she and her husband are huge travelers, and now they "just bring our kids with us" on work trips. Mia described that bringing her daughter to work and modeling a strong professional identity was important to her. She stated, "letting her watch...for me, that's what's super important about me doing my job with my daughter is she sees that you can do whatever you put your mind to type thing." Core values translated well between family and work lives, emphasizing participants' strong and grounded sense of identity.

The qualities of sacrifice and identity through core values were apparent in many participants. Sacrifice was discussed by many participants as a key requirement to enable them to balance work and family lives. Many mothers did not sacrifice the qualities of their lives (sleep, nutrition, exercise, friends, education, and more) altogether. Still, a change in scope and timeline was often necessary to balance work and family.

Furthermore, many participants identified that having a strong sense of identity consistent between work and home was important. Participants were grounded in a firm

understanding of identity that guided them throughout their lives. These qualities, or demonstrated characteristics, aided participants in pursuing work and family.

Skills

Skills were extremely important to participants, assisting them in a willful balance of work and family. Skills are abilities, knowledge, and expertise that allow people to carry out tasks or activities more effectively. To be skilled at something is to be proficient at it, or better than the average person at that thing. Participants demonstrated two key skills that were instrumental in their lives: balance and intentionality. These skills allowed participants to plan and regulate their lives as much as possible, making room for the chaos of work and family. Balance and intentionality were crucial because participants' day-to-day schedules constantly changed, especially with young children and dynamic careers.

Balance

Balance, including flexibility and adaptability, was evident and explicitly mentioned by many participants (n=16). Balance consisted of keeping the necessary aspects of work and family afloat while managing other facets, like partner relationships, friendships, extracurricular activities, and more. Often, balance requires prioritization among participants. Grace described this balancing act as keeping spinning plates in the air. When asked about the management of her life, Grace expressed, "People will be disappointed that I'm not able to do everything for all the people all the time, and I have to be okay with that, or I will just stress out and burn out and not be effective at anything."

Grace conveyed that her balancing act occurred at all times, making balance a skill that she employs as an intrinsically career-motivated mother. Kathleen used the same metaphor of the spinning plates but argued that something always feels like it is about to fall. She stated...

Most of the time, something's not crashing, but one of them's always wobbling, and that's okay, but it's totally okay. Before it crashes, you give it a couple of spins. I feel like that, more than anything is how it feels. You're just kind of spinning the things to sort of keep it going. And that's fine, and it works.

Kathleen's skill of balance aided her in keeping many "plates" afloat. Although she cannot spin them all at once with the same speed, she can keep all aspects of her life afloat. Without the ability to keep all of the plates spinning, Kathleen thought that she could not have succeeded as a working mom. Participants displayed balance in their lives as a crucial skill. Because working mothers must attend to many aspects of their lives, balance helps them distribute their energy effectively.

Intentionality

Along with balance, many participants (n=16) expressed intentionality as a key skill that helped them succeed. Intentionality is a strong course or courses of action that express a key desire or theme within a person. Intentionality took many forms across participants, whether this was in partner selection, family planning, scheduling, or the desire to hold an expansive career and/or become a mother. Along with a strong sense of self, most participants were intentional about their actions and planned their lives as much as possible. Nina demonstrated this skill through her partner and family planning. She said...

Always knew I wanted kids... And so honestly, when I was looking for a partner, a boyfriend when I was in college, it was a huge part of what I was looking for. I was looking for a partner, but I was also looking for someone who would be a

good dad. When we were dating and discussing things that we wanted, we were also very set that we wanted to be financially stable and have a house before any [kids] happened. So we were very intentional that we needed all of our ducks in a row...So it was a long relationship, I would say, but very intentional in our planning to have kids.

Nina's story was echoed by several other mothers in her and her partner's conscious decisions to have children. When asked about children, Charlotte expressed that "it was ultimately what I wanted to do. I kind of tried to plan having them at the beginning of the summer so I could have about three months with them." As an educator with summers off, Charlotte intentionally planned to have both her children during the long academic break.

Kathleen provided a prime example of family intentionality. When asked about having children, she stated that...

It was a conscious decision...We told our parents we'd be excited to be parents in five to seven years...We had had our son, and then we had a pretty conscious decision two years after he was born that we were not going to have another. Not to say everything goes perfectly to plan, but we had an intention around it... We had really, really specific guidelines for ourselves.

Kathleen, Charlotte, and Nina echoed many participants in their intentionality surrounding family planning. Unlike Kathleen, Charlotte, and Nina, a few participants did not plan their pregnancies. However, they highlighted intentionality through conversations with their partners and exploring career changes after they became pregnant. Bridgit stated...

I'm 39 now, far ahead of the original timetable. So having our first was a surprise, and it was very shocking for me and us... then we decided together that we'd have our second one quickly, so they're 22 months apart because if we were going to be in the baby phase, let's be in the baby phase.

Participants' intentionality also extended into their parenting. Hannah communicated her and her partner's intentionality with her children and how it interacted

with her work. She said, "So both in the workplace and at home, I find that the value of clear communication and expectations is really important...And so having really clear expectations of what I can deliver and do for them is really important." Ruth expressed heightened intentionality in her parenting when she had a stressful day or period at work, stating,

I try to be very cognizant because also at least two of my kids are really sensitive to criticism and trying to come at it from a sense of understanding that one, their frontal lobes are not fully developed, so let's not expect them to behave or think or act like adults.

Ruth further expressed that she attempts to approach parenting "with more understanding, trying not to guilt them or put my feelings and behaviors on them because that doesn't ever end up well as adults because I want them to be better parents than I am, as we always want to be better parents than our parents." Hannah and Ruth conveyed intentionality in their parenting styles, representing mothers with a driven parenting style.

Although participants varied in their intentionality, most (n=16) discussed deliberate and conscious decisions in multiple areas of their lives. Intentionality was an important skill for participants, whether at work, with their children, or in their parenting. Possessing intentionality as a skill allowed participants to purposefully map out certain aspects of their lives, aiding them in managing competing demands. The skills of balance and intentionality assisted mothers in navigating their muddy lives with a sense of purpose.

Conditions

Conditions were the third theme that was associated with intrinsically careermotivated working mothers. Conditions are defined as the external circumstances that influence how one lives or works. With this theme, three subthemes clearly defined the key conditions within which women operated: work, family, and society. Work conditions include the factor(s) influencing our sample while performing their workplace duties, including a flexible and family-friendly work environment and women supporting and leading other women. Family conditions include the factor(s) that were impactful for mothers while at home or with their families. These include having a small family size, the age of their child or children, the extent to which they received partner support, and the division of labor between partners. Social conditions involved the larger social norms and structures that mothers experienced in their jobs or their communities. Social conditions included family medical leave policies and cultural expectations that women are held to. When these conditions were positive, participants reported that this made their job easier, but achieving a work-life balance and healthy sense of self was much more difficult when they were negative.

Work Conditions

Supportive working conditions were essential for success as an intrinsically career-motivated mother, including a family-friendly work environment (especially with accepting supervisors) and female leadership.

Flexible Work Environment.

Nearly all of the participants (n=19) stressed that a crucial condition of being an intrinsically career-motivated mother was a flexible work environment. Flexibility was essential for the occasional sick child, disruption in childcare, or need to attend doctor's appointments. Nina said she "get[s] to participate in a lot of family things or mother things that I wouldn't be able to if I worked far away or didn't have a flexible schedule."

Charlotte expressed the importance of supportive colleagues, stating "A lot of other faculty have young kids and understand if there's a snow day or if daycare is closed that you might have your kid on a Zoom meeting or something."

Some participants purposefully sought out working conditions that better aligned with their needs because they were so vital for balance and success. This involved negotiating flexible work hours around picking up and dropping off children, advocating for hybrid work, or choosing different career paths to incorporate their families into their roles. Sharon expressed that her career change to nonprofit work was a direct reflection of the lack of flexibility in her former role. She stated...

When I had my first child, I worked in government. That was the least flexible environment because if the sessions run long, you're expected to stay, and if you build up over time, you're expected to use that time to then that time to go and "volunteer" on campaigns so you can keep your job. So I had my first child, and then I was like, 'We're not doing this anymore.' And so I moved into nonprofits and had my second child.

While Nina and Charlotte expressed the flexible nature of their current workplaces,

Sharon discussed how she changed her career to operate under a flexible working
environment. Flexibility at work was a crucial condition for participants to balance their
children and careers.

Family-Friendly Work Environment.

In addition to flexibility, mothers (n=18) also stressed that a family-friendly workspace was vital to their career success. Many participants identified their immediate supervisor as an important factor in how family-friendly their workplace was. Sadie discussed her reasoning for taking a particular job and the importance of having a supportive supervisor. She stated...

The other reason I said 'yes' [to the job] is that she [supervisor] leads by example. She is also a working parent who has three children, including one with special needs, all in elementary school...She's excellent in her role, high, high expectations, high accountability, and yet she also does take that time to be present for her children.

Sadie, like many other participants, stressed the need for active versus passive support in the workplace, citing a supportive female supervisor with children as a key aspect of a supporting work environment. Ragan expressed similar sentiments in terms of a family-friendly employer, stating that...

I would probably narrow [a family-friendly employer] down for me to being my supervisor. And I think in my current role, I have an extremely supportive supervisor. Where she's a woman, and her two kids are now grown, but she went through what it's like to want to spend time with your kids or want to be able to get home when they get off the bus, or being able to take a day off if they're sick or if they have any types of things going on at school. She's super supportive of allowing us to have a really flexible schedule.

The understanding of other working mothers in a supervisory role was essential for many participants; it was a condition that allowed them to more effectively attend to both their families' needs and their workplace obligations. Family flexibility, especially among female supervisors, was crucial for participants.

Women Leading Women.

In a similar fashion, many participants (n=12) expressed that women leading each other, or "women leading women," was important to them in their work environments.

Lilah's company provided key support for women in leadership positions through modeling and support. She said...

Back when we were acquired in 2019, there were a lot fewer women in leadership positions, and we developed this thing called 'We Lead,' which is the Women's Leadership Network and is focused on five areas.... Still, we kind of developed volunteer committees and sought to raise the issues that we thought were the most important for our employees and developed those programs from the ground up. So I was a key member of the mentorship committee, which launched a few years

ago, and we've put hundreds of women through that program. It's totally volunteer-based, but something that the company has supported and encouraged.

Lilah works as an engineer, which is a male-dominated field. It was important to her that she and other females were given a chance to grow their skills at work under the company structure and follow a female example.

Other examples of women leading women included informal conversations and creating space for different working moms in the workspace. These forums and conversations helped participants in the workplace and at home—more experienced female leaders and working mothers gave advice that was helpful to new mothers. Hannah stated...

We've had several women who had children since I was a manager, and one of them ended up leaving last year. And she said that she so appreciated my flexibility with her scheduling and her children's needs. She said, 'I had never felt ashamed or uncomfortable asking for time off or needing to take care of my family.' And so for me, that was a really important thing, just going through that experience and not feeling supported to make sure that other women, that I have the ability to help them in their motherhood.

It was important for Hannah to prioritize space for other working mothers because she did not receive support in the workplace.

Participants in leadership roles wanted to create spaces within their jobs to cater to working mothers. They had either received advice themselves or missed out and wanted to provide that opportunity to others. Brigit talked about creating a family-friendly workplace in her role as a leader. She stated that...

Being a mom myself, sometimes you have to go to the doctor....So I was always, my goal, was to be accommodating as long as everything was getting done...If there were issues, I tried to make sure it was an instance and not a trend, and then if it was a trend, we had to address it. But overall, it was, 'If you're getting your work done and our internal customers are happy,' then manage your schedule as needed.

Bridgit echoed many other participants in her sentiments. They stressed that it is difficult to be a working parent, but working parents can still succeed in their careers. They may just need a little more flexibility than someone without young children. Whether this be flexible deadlines, accommodating an unforeseen illness, or an unexpected face popping up on a Zoom call, participants in leadership roles emphasized the importance of accommodating working parents and working mothers.

Family Conditions

Family conditions, or factors influencing how participants operated in reference to their homes, were crucial for many participants. These included small family size, the age of children, a supportive partner, and household division of labor. While these conditions were not necessary for participants to successfully balance work and family, many participants expressed that positive family conditions made their lives easier.

Small Family Size.

About half of the participants (n=10) conveyed that having a small family size was critical in balancing their work and family lives. Although ten participants specifically talked about small family size, sixteen participants had two or fewer children (eight with one child and eight with two children). Participants explained that having a smaller family size was easier to manage regarding scheduling, financial obligations, travel, and time allocation. Alice, a working mother with limited financial resources, stated, "I chose to have only one child because of my circumstances." Additionally, with fewer children, participants had more time to spread to different avenues of their lives, including their careers. Lilah stated that...

I think I always wanted to have kids....I always wanted more than one until I had one. And then I was like, 'That's enough'... I think it's just where we're at in our

lives right now, and we've got a good balance, I feel, and I just can't imagine going back to changing diapers again. We are past that stage. And we're able to do a lot. We travel a lot...And I feel like with our little unit of three, we're able to do so much still and she's just a fun kid.

Other mothers like Mia echoed Lilah's sentiment. Mia originally desired a large family, but said, "if you would've asked me five years ago how many kids I wanted, it's definitely more than I would say now." With the demands of Mia's career, she had to scale her family size back to fit her goals. Ellie expressed that having one child is critical for her and her partner to have time alone and time for self-care. Ellie expressed...

Part of our decision to have one child is that we're always, we call it two-on-one, so we can always have one of us take her and do something, and then the other one can get some of that time....My husband and I both recognize that for our mental health, we both need some time alone. And so it's really helpful in that I've heard when you have multiple kids, there's never any true alone time...If the kids outnumber the parents, you're really in trouble. We really try to take full advantage of the parents outnumbering the one child and give each other breaks.

Most participants operated with a small family size of two or fewer children, identifying this condition as something that made it easier to balance the needs of their family and have a career. Many participants directly referred to small family size as a condition that made it easier for them to live as intrinsically career-motivated mothers.

Age of Children.

Ten participants (n=10) shared that their lives became easier as their children grew older. Participants generally indicated that it was easier to manage family life as their children grew older, and parents with older children made up a majority of the participants in the study. Ava mentioned that her eleven-year-old son is at "a good age where he's now quite independent. So we spend less time negotiating childcare than when he was younger...When he was younger, I had no choice but to prioritize his needs."

Bridgit expressed similar sentiments but also emphasized that the early years were

tougher because of the intense scheduling, emotional burden, and sacrifice it took to be an intrinsically motivated career woman with small children:

It was incredibly challenging, especially when they were very little, like babies, because you would work all day and then you would come home, and then you only had one to two and a half hours with them before they went to bed for the night. That, I don't think, was hard on the kids. I think that was hard on me.

As children age, they become more self-sufficient and in less need of direct parenting and supervision. Kathleen commented that she has "slowly opened up my career again as my son now has different needs," demonstrating that she is able to commit to more at work now that her son has aged. Amelia stated, "My kids, my son's 10, he's going to be 11, and my daughter doesn't even live here for most of the year. So things are starting to calm down for me as they get older." As children grow even older, they no longer need direct help and supervision, which eases the strain on working mothers and allows them to pursue other opportunities.

Partner Support.

Working with a supportive partner was extremely important to many participants (n=15). Participants often identified, sometimes multiple times in the interview, that partner support or partners who understood and advocated for their careers were instrumental. Grace stated...

I do not know how we could have done it without his support... I'm super lucky. My husband really believes in egalitarian division. We talk a lot about what's going on, and who needs to do what, and he's so willing to do what I would consider we each are doing fair share.

While Grace described an overarching example of her partner's support, Charlotte identified a small, but substantial, impact on her mental and physical health. She expressed that "[her partner] has always been very helpful and supportive when I like to

work out or exercise." Another mother, Ragan, expressed a similar sentiment, stating that her partner let go of his job when their children were little so they did not have to spend money on daycare. Additionally, Ragan's partner supported her career ambitions. She expressed...

I think that my husband is incredibly supportive. He moved to Maine with me when I started my job. He stayed home to take care of the kids. He is definitely the more nurturing, supportive parent. He is happy to take them to many of their school activities or do anything of that nature. He's just really, really helpful.

Ragan possessed a partner who was both supportive and understanding of her ambition.

Participants with partner support claimed that their partners were critical to their and their family's success.

Division of Labor.

The final family condition that allowed intrinsically motivated career mothers to operate more or less efficiently was the division of labor in their family. Most participants (n=14) expressed that the division of labor was relatively even, with one partner picking up the slack while the other was busy at work. Kerrie stated, "It's more of splitting it right down the middle so that way we can really be there for each other.

Obviously, there are some days where if we're getting really home late, we'll take on a little bit more responsibility to give them a little bit more of a break." Kathleen conveyed something similar: "I feel like that's quite a bit of trade-off back and forth. And we do it day-to-day almost," emphasizing the evenness of the physical household labor with her partner.

However, almost all participants (n=19) expressed that more or all of the invisible work of the household fell on them. Invisible work included managing healthcare visits, grocery shopping, planning and scheduling, packing lunches, communicating with

classroom teachers, and more. Sadie stated, "I definitely do all of the organizing....just all of the pediatrician appointments, all of the school calendaring, all of the sports schedules, the meal planning. I do all of that type of work, and he does more of the implementation." Ellie indicated a similar situation with her partner, expressing...

My daughter has allergies, and I am the one always making sure her appointments are scheduled...I'm always sort of planning the meals in my head and making the grocery list....It's like when you try to share that, it's things that don't even occur to your partner to do. If I left this to him, there would just be so many crucial things that I know wouldn't probably get done.

Ruth commented, "A lot of the things that I do are kind of unseen by him," echoing Ellie and many other mothers. All but one participant stated that they shouldered the invisible labor of the home. While a few participants said that "invisible" work factored into their even split with their partner, most participants completed invisible labor in addition to their equal split. This contradicted their own statements of equal balance with their partners, suggesting that participants may not be aware of how much invisible work they are contributing.

Although the above family conditions are not essential for the success of intrinsically career-motivated mothers, most participants expressed that a combination of a small family size, a supportive and/or involved partner, and older children made their lives easier. The division of labor between participant and partner served as a more neutral condition. Still, the participant and not their partner almost always contributed invisible labor. Among the dominant themes of qualities, skills, conditions, and resources, the subtheme of family conditions was the most dominant across participants and throughout the data collection.

Social Conditions

Social conditions are defined as the larger social norms and structures that mothers experience in their jobs or their communities. Participants stressed two social conditions that made it more difficult to be a working mom: workplace social policies and the cultural expectations of women. Unlike all work conditions and most family conditions, social conditions were barriers for participants to balance the needs of their work and families.

Workplace Social Policies.

While participants resided in different places across the country, concerns regarding the larger social expectations and conditions emerged from participants. Many mothers advocated for better United States social policies regarding maternity leave and inclusivity for new mothers in the workplace. Participants referenced other cultures and countries' policies when explaining what would have worked better for them.

Hannah immigrated to the United States and has close ties to family members overseas. She stated, "Coming from a European country, maternity and maternity leave, pregnancy and maternity leave, have very different social policies in those countries. I was very aggravated by how difficult it was in the U.S." While Hannah was the only participant who experienced other cultures regarding childbirth and expectations around maternity, other participants desired changes in family policy similar to those seen in other countries. Ava expressed that "as a new mom, I fantasized about living in Sweden where they had a whole year [of maternity leave] or more." When asked about maternity leave, Ruth stated...

...paid family leave is a huge thing because we are the only civilized country that doesn't have actual paid family leave built into what we do for our new families. Other countries get six to nine months or even a year or longer of paid family leave, and we get nothing guaranteed.

Hannah, Ava, and Ruth expressed the views of many mothers surrounding maternity leave, noting the lack of policy in the United States and desiring experiences in other parts of the world. All but three participants (n=17) expressed that their maternity leaves were not long enough and that they would have benefitted from more time at home, similar to more inclusive policies worldwide.

Some participants identified that policies supporting mothers beyond the first few months of childhood were also problematic. Amelia and Sharon gave up breastfeeding earlier than they had wanted to because of workplace environments that did not provide adequate access to safe and secure locations for pumping breastmilk. Amelia explained,

At the time of my son, we had an office manager who was not that nice of a person, and she made me stop nursing. I nursed my son and my daughter, but it was very difficult for me to have to go to another office and pump in between patients, and she made that more difficult for me. So I kind of gave that up a little earlier than I did with my daughter.

Sharon echoed Amelia, stating...

I can remember it was before the legislature had a pumping room, so I would have to go to a bathroom to pump breast milk...So that was added stress in the day because you're trying to make time to do that as well as get all your tasks done. And I remember having a coworker at the legislature who said, who was also a mother, and she said, 'How long do you think you're going to do that for? Because you take these breaks, and you're gone, and people need you.'

Sharon, Amelia, and other participants (n=13) stressed the need for more inclusive social policies in the United States. Participants expressed that the United States does not have adequate family leave or workplace policies that accommodate mothers, especially working mothers.

Cultural Expectations of Women.

Participants (n=16) emphasized the impossibility of conforming to social expectations of women. This extended to weight and exercise, spending time with extended family, nutrition, and involvement in their children's lives. Sadie expressed that while she relies on external factors and support, she still feels like she is not meeting the societal expectations of motherhood. She said...

I have all the supports in the world, but that doesn't mean I didn't call my friend as I was driving late for a meeting bitching about having to drive a child to school, and having just been driving as late as nine o'clock the night before driving a different child home from a team dinner. So I think what it's like for me, it's about as doable as it can be for any American woman. And yet I've got three weeks paid vacation a year, which isn't enough to cover the gaps in schooling. And I feel like I miss out on a lot of things in their lives because, by comparison, I am not volunteering in the classroom or I'm not coaching that soccer team. I really admire people who, even with a full-time career, make the time to do that, or they figure out a way to prioritize it. I don't do it as much as I would like to, but I don't think I could do either thing as well if I took on any anymore.

Even with Sadie's children being older and relying on external support networks, Sadie still feels like she is not doing enough in terms of her children and motherhood. Grace echoed similar feelings, stating that...

So I'd say being a working mom is just sort of always wondering if you're doing a good job. If you're meeting expectations, then it's the question of are the expectations reasonable. Are the expectations I think that are on me, are those self-imposed, or is this really cultural? Or am I making it harder for myself that I need to? I think my expectations for myself as a working mom are probably wildly different than what my husband expects of me. I think I'm much, much harder on myself.

Grace explained an internalized pressure from impossible social norms of mothers, especially working mothers. She commented on this again later in the interview when asked if women can have it all:

You think about all the things that you should do to be successful. There's having an interesting career, having a good relationship with your spouse, and contributing to your local community. If you're a mom having kids, then you get into how you look and that whole scenario, having all of that, it's completely

impossible. I just don't think that anyone can do that, and that's okay. And then you pick a couple of areas that are important to you, but then you just always feel like shit. 'Oh, well, I might be a really great mom and a really involved community member, but I feel bad about myself because I'm not a size two, and I don't work.' And there's just always this feeling of not being enough. It's a trap. And so then it's like redefining what it is to have it all. I do have it all. I really do. I have the things that are most important to me. I don't have every single box fully checked out. I'm not a size two, and yeah, my in-laws, I'll tell you that. But it's deciding what's important to you, making that the priority, and being okay with letting go of the other things.

Grace's comments were consistent with the sentiments expressed by several of the other participants. They felt it was impossible to achieve the expectations of society, themselves, family members, and their communities, especially with the demands of their careers. However, many participants (like Grace) took a matter-of-fact approach, stating that they do their best to ignore an unachievable standard set by society. They chose to prioritize work and family, and they were okay with sacrificing other elements of their lives despite feeling societal pressure and judgment. While they were disappointed at the expectations that larger social norms enforce, most participants were happy with the choices they had made for themselves.

The most common social conditions faced by participants were a lack of support in overarching social policies and larger societal expectations of women and mothers.

Unlike many work and family conditions, these social conditions made it more difficult for participants to manage their lives.

Resources

Resources are assets that could be drawn upon in times of need, or to make participants' lives easier. Participants stressed two key resources that aided them as intrinsically career-motivated mothers: finances and external support networks. These

resources helped mothers operate effectively when they needed something that their immediate family and workplace could not provide.

Finances

Finances were key resources to help participants, their partners, and their families in terms of paying for services such as childcare and cleaning assistance, or materials such as nutritional foods and items that could simplify family life. Mothers expressed that outsourcing some of their household tasks relieved a burden that allowed them to spend more time at home and work. Jane said she can... "outsource a lot of the household chores because of my salary." She further elaborated on this, stating,

A cleaning lady comes every other week to do the tidying and whatever, and so they basically just clean the house. I do laundry. We have an au pair. She lives with me, so she does the kids' laundry, and I have a lawn service that comes and mows my lawn, but we have this cleaning service that comes every other week.

Bridgit echoed this sentiment, stating that "because of our economic level, we are able to outsource some of the work, the food, the cleaning, the mowing of the lawn." Participants utilized finances as a significant resource to ease their responsibilities at home.

Additionally, other participants mentioned that money was an added benefit to having a higher-paying career. Alice, who is working on her Ph.D. is looking forward to a job that will pay her adequately. She stated, "I'm looking forward to a comfortable salary, and I'm definitely going to be pursuing that salary pretty hard when I'm done." Alice was excited about the increased financial opportunities available to her after obtaining her Ph.D. Alice and others expressed that they were financially motivated because of what it could bring to their lives. Finances were a resource that enabled participants an easier path to be career-motivated mothers, and some participants took active steps to make more money.

External Support Networks

External support networks were also a crucial resource for about half of the participants (n=10). External support can take many forms, and participants expressed the presence of family members, neighbors, other parents, and online parenting or community message boards that provided support outside of their immediate families and workplaces. Hope stated that...

I think I'm really lucky. My son has had these two buds since they met when they were three or four. And they're also older working mothers, older than me actually, and they have kids that age. So I'm really lucky that I have peers who are my age and have kids the same age as my kids.

Hope expressed that her son's friend's mothers were sounding boards for her in multiple areas of her life. Hannah emphasized more of an emotional support network. She stated that...

I was lucky enough to have a coworker who had her kids just a few years ahead of me, and she was the one; we'll just go for walks over lunch, and she'll mentor me and just say, 'These are the things to expect.' And she was my sounding board to say, 'Is this feeling normal? Should I go to the doctor now?' And she coached me about 'You're on maternity leave this and this and this.' And I was still doing email on and off. I would respond just because I felt bad that there was just nobody else to answer stuff. And then when I came back to work, she's the one that was just like, 'Stop beating yourself. It is what it is. Don't stress about some of this, and the world is not going to end.

Hannah did not experience as much partner support as some other participants. She expressed, "I found that I always expected that we'd have 50-50 separation of duties... we've had conversations over the years, he thinks he helps 50%. I think he helps 30%." With less immediate support, Hannah stressed that external emotional support was crucial to her—she "cannot emphasize enough having really strong professional and personal mentors who have gone through these experiences to provide insight." Like other participants, Hannah stressed that emotional support networks were crucial to her.

Hannah relied more on her external support networks because she had a lack of partner support.

Unlike Hannah, Lilah experienced in-home support from her family when her child was born. Her mother traveled across the country during COVID-19 to stay with her and her child. After she exited the newborn stage and in-home help from her family members was no longer available, she and other community members created a support network of their own. Lilah stated,

...we did a pod kindergarten, and the families that we did this homeschool pod with, it was virtual school, but at someone's house, we've become each other's families. And so I really rely on my parent friend network to help out and play dates and all that stuff so that we cover for each other. And it works out really nicely. They're a built-in family.

For mothers similar to Lilah who do not have family nearby, creating a close-knit group of friends with children the same age was key in balancing work and family. Some form of external support was mentioned as a resource by half (n=10) of the participants in the study. Relying on a network for emotional and physical support was crucial for some participants, and they utilized that resource to better balance their lives as intrinsically career-motivated mothers. Finances and external support were the most prevalent resources for participants in this study. Having abundant resources acted as a pool for participants to dip into when their own families or workplace structure did not allow for the support needed to balance work and family.

DISCUSSION

This study explored how intrinsically career-motivated women experience motherhood. First, I questioned if career-oriented mothers have a heightened sense of maternal regret, especially surrounding possible missed career opportunities from their children. Second, I asked how these mothers experience motherhood in the context of their careers. Is it possible to achieve work and family, and can career-motivated mothers do it all?

In examining the first research question concerning the presence of parental regret in high-achieving women, I found little evidence that mothers regretted the decision to have children. This was largely reflective of my sample's desire to have both a career and a family. Many mothers planned both their careers and their families well before they embarked on either journey, and both pieces were important to them. Thus, there was no maternal regret present because of the largely intensive planning that went into having children. Additionally, Donath (2015) argues that maternal regret is more commonly associated with feelings of detachment from a motherhood ideal, and my sample identified a mostly positive experience in motherhood. Conscious family planning and a positive experience with motherhood may have led to an absence of maternal regret in my sample.

The absence of maternal regret may have also been related to the demographics of my sample. My sample was largely well-educated, white, and financially stable.

Piotrowski (2021) states that the percentage of parents who experience regret possess adverse childhood experiences, are minorities, are at a lower socioeconomic level, are not married, and have children with special needs. While adverse childhood experiences were

not known, a majority of my sample did not experience the above factors. It is likely that my sample did not experience maternal regret because they were committed to becoming mothers and possessed a higher socioeconomic status than those who typically experience maternal regret (Piotrowski, 2021).

Theoretical Frames

Bowen's Family Systems Theory (1972, 1978) explains that the family is a relationship and emotional system where family members influence each other and are influenced at numerous different levels. Analyzing the data through this theory allowed for the interplay between family members to arise, especially when participants described their domestic work with their partners and how they experienced raising their children. Mothers identified a push and pull of domestic work with their partners, which influenced how they operated as individuals and within a family unit. Furthermore, mothers identified the changing needs of their children (especially as they grew older), exemplifying the adaptability and interrelatedness of the family unit.

Rational Choice Theory (RCT), explains that an actor (individual) selects the most profitable option when several are presented, weighing the drawbacks and benefits before making a decision. Looking through this lens allowed me to identify the intentionality and consciousness of my participants. Mothers in my sample were aware of their values and how they applied to their actions, whether micro-decisions about nutrition or macro-decisions about career changes and family dynamics (Voss & Abraham, 2000; Weiske et al., 2015. Additionally, most mothers made conscious decisions about when to have children in relation to their careers, partners, and age.

Rational Choice Theory provided a deeper understanding of participants' intentionality and consciousness.

The framework of intersectionality was crucial. Intersectionality argues that individuals possess unique and complex identities resulting from various social inequalities (Crenshaw, 1995; Gillborn, 2015). While my sample was almost exclusively white/caucasian American, intersectionality allowed for a greater understanding of social conditions and how those resulted from multiple forms of sexism. Additionally, intersectionality encouraged a distinctive and individual approach to each participant, recognizing that they are separate people with different experiences in motherhood.

Qualitative Discussion

Of the themes, conditions seemed to impact how participants experienced motherhood most. The conditions, external circumstances that influence how one lives or works, had a powerful influence on mothers and, in many cases, seemed to be the defining aspect of helping them to achieve success in both domains. While resources also acted as an outside variable for participants, participants stressed the prevalence of conditions in their lives more frequently than resources.

Family conditions were the most important for mothers; they emphasized that having a grounded family life made their experiences in motherhood more manageable (Elvin-Nowak & Thomsson, 2001; Christopher, 2012; Dermott & Pomati, 2016). Mothers continuously referred to these conditions and stressed that their families were a place of comfort for them. While the division of labor served as more of a neutral condition, a small family size, older children, and partner support eased the lives of mothers. So, if a mother experienced a small family size (two or fewer children), had

older children, and experienced partner support, her experience of motherhood was more positive than a participant who did not experience these conditions. While a small family size is typically a couple's or mother's choice, the age of children depends on time, and partner support can vary. Family conditions suggest that it is easier to tend to both work and home with a small, supportive family as children grow older.

Mothers expressed that with a smaller family, they did not need to sacrifice as many elements of their lives as they thought they would with more children (Niemistö et al., 2021). Participants could travel, carve out time for themselves, and devote more of their time to work. Because a larger family size equates to additional time, money, and emotional and physical labor, mothers with a small family size experienced more ease than those with additional children (Schmidt et al., 2023). After having one child, some mothers expressed that they consciously decided not to have more children—not because they did not want to raise another child, but because they appreciated the level of balance they were currently experiencing with smaller family sizes. Older children presented some of the same feelings as small family size in participants; they expressed that less logistical work was necessary and regained some of the time they had lost in early motherhood (Rizzo et al., 2013; Clark, 2020; Schmidt et al., 2023).

Partner support was also an important factor in relieving stress from the sample. Participants who experienced partner support expressed that having a supportive and active partner made their lives substantially easier (Blair-Loy, 2003; Arendell, 2004). Partners were willing to pick up the slack when mothers were facing a busier time at work. Additionally, partners essentially split the work of the household and raising their children. When partner support was not present, participants stated that they felt they

were alone in their journey of raising children and having a career (Chesley & Flood, 2017). This led to additional stress, more labor, and alienation from their families. Whether this was in the form of emotional support, physical support, and/or understanding of their career ambitions, mothers expressed that partner support allowed them to better tend to their families and careers.

Invisible labor, or the "unseen" work of the household (Daniels, 1987), seemed to have a significant impact on mothers finding a balance between work and family. While most participants identified an equal labor split between them and their partners, all but one participant shouldered the invisible work, including scheduling doctor's appointments, making grocery lists, keeping track of the family, and some housekeeping and childcare that generally goes unnoticed by their partners and children. Around half of the participants took on the "invisible" work of the household but did not factor it into their self-identified even split with their partners. This suggests that this "invisible" work, for around half of the participants, is also invisible to them.

This finding echoes the findings of Kalmijin & Monden, 2012, Namkamura & Akiyoshi, 2015, and Shockley & Shen, 2016, which convey a similar distinction of unaccounted invisible labor. Mothers shoulder household work that is necessary and valid. However, it is not visible to their families and can be barely visible to themselves because it is seamlessly integrated with the rest of their household duties. A clearer record and distinction of domestic work is needed for intrinsically career-motivated mothers to have a more balanced share of the household, accounting for necessary work that often goes unnoticed by multiple parties.

Work conditions among mothers were also prevalent among mothers, including a family-friendly and flexible work environment and female leadership in the workplace. Mothers stressed that having a flexible, family-friendly environment (often including a female supervisor) was crucial for them to obtain the level of family commitment they desired (Richie et al., 1997; Niemistö et al., 2021; Grosse, 2022). While work was important to them, they stressed that they needed flexibility to be present for their families. Furthermore, some mothers changed jobs or careers in search of this flexibility, noting that being present for their families was non-negotiable. For companies to retain working mothers, they need to be able to accommodate their needs and recognize that they can produce the same quality of work despite needing a flexible schedule.

Although resources were less common than conditions among mothers, finances and external support networks played an important role for those who experienced them, easing their experiences in motherhood. Those with financial resources could outsource some of their domestic work, including childcare and nutrition (Roy, 2016). Because resources contributed to outsourcing domestic work, mothers felt that they had regained time that could be spent in other areas of their lives. This was important because it allowed them to be more present with their families or at work. Resources also played into the split of domestic labor between mothers who parented with a partner, alleviating work from both parties (Shockley & Shen, 2016). Financial resources allowed mothers to redistribute some of the household work that belonged to them and their partners, relieving stress and allowing for more time in other areas.

Financial resources directly reflected participant's salaries. If mothers made significantly less money, they would not benefit from economic resources (Savas, 2010;

Schmidt et al., 2023). This meant that they could not outsource some of the work of the home, shouldering it in addition to their careers. Pay scale does not necessarily correlate to time or stress level, so, likely, some participants did not experience financial resources in addition to having a high-stress and high-demand job. Additionally, certain industries (healthcare, technology, engineering) pay more than others (education, non-profit management), which was reflected in my sample's demographics. Mothers with interests in lower-paying fields were still career-driven, but their salaries may not have reflected their drive (Huopalanien & Satama, 2019). Costs also rise exponentially with more children, so mothers with a larger family size are less likely to benefit from financial resources despite having a higher family cost (Grosse, 2022). Financial resources alleviated some of the housework and childcare, but they depended entirely on salary and the needs of each family.

External support networks provided a similar benefit as resources to participants, where they could use the external support to supplement the support their workplaces and families provided (Uttal, 1999). For example, some participants relied on others to share in their children's carpooling and logistical work. Mothers also experienced emotional guidance from outside sources, like friends, co-workers, online chatrooms, or external family members. Increased words of encouragement and advice supported mothers, boosting their confidence and giving reassurance and guidance. This support was affirming and provided a new angle for mothers that their partners could not necessarily provide (Lester, 2015). While resources were less stressed by participants, they provided external benefits to those who experienced them.

While most mothers noted their skillful balance of work and family, many also displayed the quality of sacrifice. Many participants first let go of sleep, nutrition, exercise, and overall well-being, prioritizing their careers and families. Additionally, some participants lessened the scope of their career goals to be more present at home, like further education or promotions at work (Niemestö et al., 2021). When sacrificing, mothers did not give up time with their families or time away from their current careers; these areas were non-negotiable. Instead, they let themselves go, letting their own plate "crash." While participants expressed that sacrifice was necessary to tend to the many facets of work and family, long-term effects on mental and physical health may appear from relinquishing sleep, nutrition, and exercise (Johnston & Swanson, 2007). These are not healthy practices. Although sacrifice contributes to a balance of work and family, sacrificing basic human needs should not be necessary to obtain sufficient contributions to work and family. Sacrifice was most often self-sacrifice, where mothers put themselves behind their jobs and families.

Conditions and resources were the most important to my sample; these are what eased their experiences in motherhood. Mothers with career ambitions can attend to both work and family, but their experiences are much easier with positive conditions and resources (Schmidt et al., 2023). With these conditions and resources, participants indicated that it was possible to fulfill a career and a family within motherhood. However, they stressed that contributing oneself to their careers and families did not leave much room for anything else.

Implications

Social Implications

Unlike any other theme or subtheme, social conditions were distinctly negative; they made it harder for participants to manage their lives as career-oriented mothers. Participants named two negative social conditions: a desire for better US social policies and the cultural expectations of women. When discussing maternity leave, many mothers pointed to more progressive social policies worldwide (mostly in Nordic countries), remarking on how their policies paled to the United States and their own experiences. While comparing to other countries may be a product of a highly educated sample, it is important to note that a majority of participants felt that domestic maternity leave policies were lacking. Many mothers were angry that the United States is the only "civilized" country that does not have top-down integrated family leave, and felt that there was a gap between the economic advancement of the United States and its social policies (Grosse, 2022).

Aside from inclusive top-down policies, mothers stressed that managers and companies should be held to a higher standard of care in the workplace. Amelia and Sharon both discussed lacking accommodations surrounding breastfeeding; they both stopped breastfeeding earlier than planned because of stigma at work. Inclusive social policies must continue beyond maternity leave and into the workplace. Although all participants did not share Amelia and Sharon's experiences, it is important that every mother have the opportunity to care for their children as they wish, even if that extends into the workplace. Future policies should be transparent, not buried in a manual, and have consequences for employees, managers, and companies if they are not followed. Workplace training should be mandatory surrounding new motherhood, explaining the physical and emotional transition back to work and how co-workers can be

supportive. This would both make new mothers more comfortable and able to produce more quality work (Gunderson & Barrett, 2017), but also retain them at their current jobs.

Mothers also identified cultural expectations of women as a negative social condition. They felt that it was impossible to conform to all of society's expectations: being fit, having an expansive career, having a good relationship with family, volunteering in the community, raising well-adjusted children, and having a romantic relationship with their partners, to name a few (Donath, 2015; Grosse, 2022; Schmidt et al., 2023). Though these expectations do not align with intensive mothering, they portray a specific ideal of a mother that is unachievable, similar to intensive mothering (Hays, 1996; Rizzo et al., 2013; Budds, 2021). As expressed by my sample, expectations of mothers have shifted away from being associated wholly with children to being wholly committed to many aspects of life (Schmidt et al., 2023). This expectation is equally harmful, encouraging women to commit themselves to too much and sacrifice their well-being.

My sample did not describe extensive mothering. Extensive mothering is the "way mothers respond to the cultural constructions of the ideal mother and worker and reframe how employment fits into good notions of good mothering in their lives" (Christopher, 2012, p. 74). Participants desired to work just as much as they desired to have a family; they did not justify employment in relation to their families. While participants identified negative cultural expectations, they felt complacent in prioritizing their careers and families and attempted to ignore the rest. While this is progress, an expectation of mothers wholly committing themselves to various other aspects of life is unobtainable. Additionally, the expectation of "doing it all" remains despite more

mothers entering the workforce. Maintaining the expectation that women can fully commit themselves to multiple dramatic aspects of life, whether that be work and family or another mix of elements, is unrealistic and harmful. Women, and mothers, should be able to prioritize what is important to them and not receive social backlash or stigmatization for it.

Many participants expressed challenges they faced as intrinsically careermotivated working mothers. However, they had an overall positive conception of
motherhood. They explained that their children are a highlight in their lives and that they
enjoy raising them with their partners. Additionally, participants felt fulfilled by their
work and appreciated that they could find purpose (for many, that purpose correlated with
their identities and values). Despite the challenges presented by social conditions,
participants were happy with their choice of both work and family.

The interview data from this study was extremely rich, with four dominant themes and fifteen subthemes emerging from the data. Mothers identified their unique family and work dynamics, suggesting an individual approach to how each participant manages their competing devotions; however, given the similarities across interviews, there are some common components in doing this complex balance. While the themes and sub-themes discussed were the most prevalent, future researchers must recognize that intrinsically career-motivated mothers each have unique life experiences, families, and work environments that make their lives distinctly different. There are many ways to approach motherhood, and mothers with expansive careers are no different.

Who Is Left Behind?

The dominant themes of the study illustrated a specific sample of largely well-educated, white women. These mothers experienced struggles in balancing work and family but identified several qualities, skills, conditions, and resources that impacted their experiences, largely for the better. Marginalized mothers experience motherhood differently, and it is important to note that systemic barriers and biases likely contribute to a distinctly different and much more difficult experience. If society's most privileged women experience a large misalignment of social expectations to reality, marginalized mothers and mothers of color most likely have a much more challenging experience with an entirely different set of expectations. My findings are not generalizable and represent a specific sample and demographic.

Areas for Future Research

I did not find maternal regret among intrinsically career-motivated mothers. I found that mothers were intentional in almost every area of their lives, including their decisions to have children, often planning them out in tandem with their careers.

Furthermore, the privilege of my sample may have contributed to their absence of maternal regret. Future research should focus on marginalized mothers and/or mothers who may not have been planning on having expansive careers, and how their exploding jobs may lead to feelings of hostility or regret towards their children and families.

My sample was almost exclusively white/Caucasian American. While these findings are significant, it is important to note that they cannot be applied outside of the context of the study. Mothers of color experience vastly different connotations of motherhood (Collins, 1994; Glenn et al.; Grosse, 2022), and likely have unique qualities, skills, conditions, and resources, or a different distribution of my dominant findings. For

example, mothers of color rely more on their communities to help raise their children (Collins, 1994; Savas, 2010). Further research into intrinsically career-motivated mothers should focus on marginalized mothers and highlight how they attend to both work and family within systemic barriers.

The last area of future research I recommend is partners and children of intrinsically career-motivated mothers. The mothers in my sample stated that they were present at home and work and could serve both areas effectively. However, this is a personal account of the participants. I wonder how their families feel, and how present they are at home in the eyes of those who love them. Future research should focus not only on working mothers but also on their partners and children.

CONCLUSION

I am struck by one quote from a participant that I continuously returned to when building my findings section. I found my way back to it many times but struggled to include it in any area of my thesis. When asked if working mothers could do it all, one mother stated, "I don't like that because we can do it all we need to. Just because you can doesn't mean you should, right?"

It should not be necessary for mothers to orchestrate, possess, or stumble upon the found qualities, skills, conditions, and resources to be a woman dedicated to her family and career. She should be able to do both without the social stigma, added stress, or significant sacrifice that was described by my sample. To do it "all" should not mean to achieve every expectation of women and mothers. Individuals should be able to decide what their "all" is and pursue it to the best of their ability. Although most of my data was positive, the negative findings illustrated that a cultural shift is needed to accommodate working mothers. It should be possible to do both without the expectation of having to do it all.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adams, A. (1995). Maternal bonds: Recent literature on mothering. *Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 20, 414–427.
- Almey, M. (2010). Women in Canada: Work chapter updates. Statistics Canada. http://www.statcan.gc.ca.wv-o-ursus-proxy02.ursus.maine.edu/pub/89f0133x/89f0133x2006000-eng.htm (accessed October 12, 2023).
- Arendell, T. (2000, 2004), Conceiving and investigating motherhood: the decade's scholarship. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62: 1192-1207. https://doi-org.wv-o-ursus-proxy02.ursus.maine.edu/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.01192.x
- Berg, K. (2008). Äitiys kulttuurisina odotuksina [Motherhood as cultural expectations].
- Blackstone, A. (2019). Childfree by choice: The movement redefining family and creating a new age of independence. DigitalCommons@UMaine.
- Blair-Loy, M., & Dehart, G. (2003). Family and career trajectories among African American female attorneys. *Journal of Family Issues*, 24(7), 908–933. doi:10.1177/0192513x03255455
- Blair-Loy, M. (2003). Competing devotions: Career and family among women executives. Harvard University Press.
- Bowen, M. (1972). Towards the differentiation of a self in one's own family. *Family interactions*. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Bowen, M. (1978). Family therapy in clinical practice. New York, NY: Aronson.
- Budds, K. (2021). Validating social support and prioritizing maternal wellbeing: beyond intensive mothering and maternal responsibility. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 376(1827).
- Clark, M. (2020). Parenting matters: Supporting parents of children ages 0-8. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 41(2), 103-103. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0000000000000765
- Charmaz K. (1995). Grounded theory. In Rethinking methods in psychology, edited by Smith J., Harre R., Van Langenhove L. London: Sage.
- Chesley, N., & Flood, S. (2017). Signs of change? At-home and breadwinner parents' housework and child-care time. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 79(2), 511-534.

- Christopher K. (2011). Intersectionality in mothers' constructions of "good mothering." Working paper.
- Christopher, K. (2012). Extensive Mothering: Employed Mothers' Constructions of the Good Mother. *Gender & Society*, 26(1), 73-96. https://doi-org.wv-o-ursus-proxy02.ursus.maine.edu/10.1177/0891243211427700
- Collins, P. H. (1994, 2000). Shifting the center: Race, class, and feminist theorizing about motherhood. In D. Bassin, M. Honey, & M. M. Kaplan (Eds.), *Representations of motherhood* (pp. 56–74). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Collins, P. H. (2022). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment. Routledge.
- Cox, M. J., & Paley, B. (1997). Families as systems. *Annual review of psychology*, 48(1), 243-267.
- Crenshaw, K. W. (1995). Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. In Crenshaw, K., Gotanda N., Peller G., Thomas K., *Critical race theory: The key writings that formed the movement* (pp. 357-383). New York, NY: New Press.
- Damaske, S. (2011). For the family? How class and gender shape women's work. Oxford University Press.
- Daniels, A. K. (1987). Invisible work. Social Problems, 34, 403–415.
- Dermott, E., & Pomati, M. (2016). 'Good' parenting practices: How important are poverty, education and time pressure? *Sociology (Oxford), 50*(1), 125-142. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038514560260
- Disability and Health Overview | CDC. (n.d.). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved March 16, 2024, from https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/disabilityandhealth/disability.html
- Donath, O. (2015). Regretting motherhood: A sociopolitical analysis. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 40(2), 343-367. https://doi.org/10.1086/678145
- Donnelly, B. W., & Voydanoff, P. (1996). Parenting versus placing for adoption: Consequences for adolescent mothers. *Family Relations*, 45(4), 427-434. https://doi.org/10.2307/585172
- Dow, D.M. (2015), Integrated Motherhood: Beyond Hegemonic Ideologies of Motherhood. *Family Relations*, 78: 180-196. https://doi-org.wv-o-ursus-proxy02.ursus.maine.edu/10.1111/jomf.12264

- Eccles, J. S. (1999). The development of children ages 6 to 14. *The Future of Children*, 9(2), 30–44. https://doi.org/10.2307/1602703
- Elvin-Nowak, Y., & Thomsson, H. (2001). Motherhood as idea and practice: A discursive understanding of employed mothers in Sweden. *Gender and Society* 15(3): 407–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124301015003005
- Emerson, R. W. (2015). Convenience sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling: How does sampling affect the validity of research? *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 109(2), 164-168. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X1510900215
- Erdem, G., & Safi, O.A. (2018), The cultural lens approach to bowen family systems theory: Contributions of family change theory. *Journal of Family Theory & Review, 10*, 469-483. https://doi-org.wv-o-ursus-proxy02.ursus.maine.edu/10.1111/jftr.12258
- Erickson, R.J. (2005), Why emotion work matters: sex, gender, and the division of household labor. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67: 337-351. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-2445.2005.00120.x
- Forcey, L. R. (2001). Feminist perspectives on mothering and peace. *Journal of the Association for Research on Mothering*, 3(2), 155-174.
- Garey, A. (1995). Constructing motherhood on the night shift: "Working mothers" as stay-at-home moms. *Qualitative Sociology*, 18, 414–437.
- Garey, A. I. (1999). *weaving work and motherhood*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Glenn, E. N., Change, G., & Forcey, L. R. (1994). Mothering: Ideology, experience, and agency. *Canadian Journal of Communication*, 20(4) https://doi.org/10.22230/cjc.1995v20n4a896
- Gillborn, D. (2015). Intersectionality, Critical Race Theory, and the Primacy of Racism: Race, Class, Gender, and Disability in Education. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21(3), 277-287. https://doi-org.wv-o-ursus-proxy02.ursus.maine.edu/10.1177/1077800414557827
- Grosse, J. (2022). Screaming on the inside: the unsustainability of American motherhood.
- Gunderson, J., & Barrett, A. E. (2017). Emotional cost of emotional support? the association between intensive mothering and psychological well-being in midlife. *Journal of Family Issues*, *38*(7), 992-1009. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X15579502

- Hattery, A. (2001). *Women, work, and family: Balancing and weaving.* SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452233932
- Hays, S. (1996). *The cultural contradictions of motherhood*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Hochschild, A. (1997). The time bind. Working USA, 1(2), 21-29.
- Hochschild, A. (1989, 2003). The Second Shift.
- Hodkinson, P., & Macleod, F. (2010). Contrasting concepts of learning and contrasting research methodologies: Affinities and bias. *British Educational Research Journal*, 36(2), 173-189. https://doi.org/10.1080/01411920902780964
- Huopalainen, A. S., & Satama, S. T. (2019). Mothers and researchers in the making: Negotiating 'new' motherhood within the 'new' academia. *Human Relations*, 72(1), 98-121. https://doi-org.wv-o-ursus-proxy02.ursus.maine.edu/10.1177/0018726718764571
- Kalmijn, M., & Monden, C. W. (2012). The division of labor and depressive symptoms at the couple level: Effects of equity or specialization?. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 29(3), 358-374.
- Kerr, M. E., & Bowen, M. (1988). Family evaluation. New York, NY: Norton.
- Johnston D., Swanson D. (2006). Constructing the "good mother": The experiences of mothering ideologies by work status. *Sex Roles 54*: 509-19.
- Johnston Deirdre D., Swanson Debra H. (2007). Cognitive acrobatics in the construction of worker-mother identity. *Sex Roles* 57: 447-59.
- Ladd-Taylor, M. (1994). *Mother-work: Women, child welfare, and the state, 1890-1930*. University of Illinois Press.
- Lamphere, L., Zavella, P., & Gonzales, F. (1993). Sunbelt working mothers: Reconciling family and factory https://doi.org/10.7591/9781501724503
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2007). An array of qualitative data analysis tools: A call for data analysis triangulation. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 22(4), 557-584. https://doi.org/10.1037/1045-3830.22.4.557
- Leonard, V. W. (1996). Mothering as a practice. In Gordon, S., Benner, P., & Noddings, N. (Eds.). (1996). *Caregiving: Readings in knowledge, practice, ethics, and politics*. University of Pennsylvania Press.

- Lester, L. (2015). "Parenting adolescents: Developing strategies for fifo parents." *Journal of Child and Family Studies 24*(12):3757–66.
- Macdonald, C. L. (2010, 2011). Shadow mothers: Nannies, au pairs, and the micropolitics of mothering. University of California Press. https://doi.org/10.1525/9780520947818
- Milkie, M.A., Raley, S.B., & Bianchi, S.M. (2009). Taking on the Second Shift: Time Allocations and Time Pressures of U.S. Parents with Preschoolers. *Social Forces* 88(2), 487-517. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.0.0268.
- Nakamura, M., & Akiyoshi, M. (2015). What determines the perception of fairness regarding household division of labor between spouses? PloS one, 10(7), e0132608.
- Neal, J. W., & Neal, Z. P. (2024). Prevalence of childfree adults before and after dobbs v jackson in michigan (USA). *PloS One, 19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0294459.
- Niemistö, C., Hearn, J., Kehn, C., & Tuori, A. (2021). Motherhood 2.0: Slow Progress for Career Women and Motherhood within the 'Finnish Dream.' *Work, Employment and Society, 35*(4), 696-715. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017020987392.
- Opp, K.-D. (1999), Contending Conceptions of the Theory of Rational Action. *Journal of Theoretical Politics* 11, pp. 171–202.
- Piotrowski, K. (2021). How many parents regret having children and how it is linked to their personality and health: Two studies with national samples in poland. *PloS One*, 16(7), e0254163-e0254163. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254163
- Richie, B. S., Fassinger, R. E., Linn, S. G., Johnson, J., Prosser, J., & Robinson, S. (1997). Persistence, connection, and passion: A qualitative study of the career development of highly achieving African American–Black and White women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 44(2), 133–148. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.44.2.133
- Rizzo, K. M., Schiffrin, H. H., & Liss, M. (2013). Insight into the parenthood paradox: Mental health outcomes of intensive mothering. *Journal of child and family studies*, 22, 614-620.
- Ross, E. (1995). New thoughts on "the oldest vocation": Mothers and motherhood in recent feminist scholarship. University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.1086/494980

- Roy, S (2016). Motherhood in management: a paradigm shift. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management 18*(10): 1–11.
- Ruddick, S. (1994). Thinking mothers/conceiving birth. In D. Bassin, M. Honey, & M.M. Kaplan (Eds.), Representations of motherhood (pp. 29–46). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Schmidt, E. M., Décieux, F., Zartler, U., & Schnor, C. (2023). What makes a good mother? Two decades of research reflecting social norms of motherhood. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 15(1), 57-77.
- Savage, L.J. (1954). The Foundation of Statistics. New York: Wiley.
- Savas, G. (2010). Social inequality at low-wage work in neo-liberal economy: The case of women of color domestic workers in the united states. *Race, Gender & Class*, 17(3), 314-326.
- Segura, D. A. (1991). Ambivalence or continuity?: Motherhood and employment among chicanas and mexican immigrant women workers. *Aztlán*, 20(1-2), 119-150.
- Shockley, K. M., & Shen, W. (2016). Couple dynamics: Division of labor. *The Oxford handbook of work and family*, 125-139. Chicago.
- Table 4. Families with own children: Employment status of parents by age of youngest child and family type, 2021-2022 annual averages 2022 A01 Results. (2023, April 19). Bureau of Labor Statistics. Retrieved March 16, 2024, from https://www.bls.gov/news.release/famee.t04.htm
- Thorne, B., & Yalom, M. (1982). Rethinking the family: Some feminist questions.
- U S Centers for Disease Control. Key Statistics from the National Survey of Family Growth; 2019. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nsfg/key_statistics/c-keystat.htm#childlessness
- Uttal, L. (1996). Custodial care, surrogate care, and coordinated care: Employed mothers and the meaning of child care. *Gender & Society*, 10(3), 291–311.
- Uttal, L. (1999). Using kin for child care: Embedment in the socioeconomic networks of extended families. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 61(4), 845–857.
- Voss, T., & Abraham, M. (2000). Rational choice theory in sociology: A survey. *The international handbook of sociology* (pp. 50-83).
- Weiske, C., Petzold, K., & Schad, H. (2015). Multi-local living the approaches of rational choice theory, sociology of everyday life and actor-network theory.

- *Tijdschrift Voor Economische En Sociale Geografie, 106*(4), 392-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/tesg.12157
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45-55.
- Yamada, A., Kato, M., Suzuki, M. et al. (2012). Quality of life of parents raising children with pervasive developmental disorders. *BMC Psychiatry 12*(119). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-12-119
- Yidong, T., Xinxin, L., Tu, Y. D., & Lu, X. X. (2013). How ethical leadership influence employees' innovative work behavior: A perspective of intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 116(2), 441-457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-012-1455-7

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Institutional Review Board (IRB) Form & Approval

	HIS PAGE AS	ONE PAGE – DO NOT C S PAGE AS WORD DOC		INS/FONTS!!!!!	uu.
		N FOR APPROVAL OF ction of Human Subject			7 - 7 - 7 - 7 - 7
START DATE: Leadership, and STATUS OF PI	VESTIGATOR ATOR: ATOR: NSOR: is a student): JECT: The In Human Develo	Brian Pitman Elizabeth Neiman Daniel Puhlman tersection of Ambitious 4/28/2023	EMA EMA EMA Women & Paren PI DEPARTN DERGRADUATI	IL: daniel.puhlm ting MENT: School of	n@maine.edu man@maine.edu nan@maine.edu
	for an honors t	nesis/senior thesis/capsto	one?	for a master's for a course p	
in Section I.E. of Faculty Sponsor ensures that he/s University of Ma the principal inv IRB.	the Policies and s are responsible the has read the hine's Policies an estigator is an u	Procedures for the Pro e for oversight of researce application and that the	tection of Huma ch conducted by conduct of such rotection of Hum he Faculty Spons	n Subjects. their students. T research will be an Subjects of Re sor MUST submi	in accordance with the esearch. REMINDER: if
*********** FOR IRB USE (ACTION TAKE	ONLY Applie	ation # 2023-03-19		**************************************	**************************************
□ Approv □ Approv Modific □ Not app □ Judged	ed pending mod ations accepted roved (see attac	Date of next review: b ifications. Date of next i (date): hed statement) th human subjects	review: by	of Risk: Degree of Risk:	late) 3/19/2023
			Date 4/28/202	3	10/2018

Appendix B: Recruitment Message & Flyer

You may be eligible to participate in a research study conducted at the University of Maine! I am sending this message on behalf of Paige Allen, an undergraduate student working on her Honors thesis and McGillicuddy Humanities Center Fellowship. This study will explore the relationship between successful women and their experience being mothers. There will be an emphasis on the decision-making process regarding children and how having children may have negatively affected mothers' career trajectories and domestic lives. This research will add to lacking scholarship in sociology, psychology, and philosophy. The project is advised by Dr. Daniel Puhlman, faculty at the University of Maine and head of the Parenting Relationships Research Lab. To complete this study, we need your help!

To qualify for the study, participants must:

- Be 18 years or older
- Speak English
- Identify as a mother
- Work full time (at least 32 hours per week)
- Have at least one child between the ages of 2 and 12

Participants also must identify with at least 2 of the following criteria:

- Have 5 or more years of professional experience
- Have an advanced degree at or above a master's
- Hold a managerial or executive position

Please view the informed consent form, which is part of the <u>initial screening survey</u> (https://forms.gle/oEqaNbGshKCGE2rq6) if you are interested in participating in this study. The survey will take approximately 5 minutes to complete. If you are eligible to participate, you will receive a follow-up email with a second 15-minute survey to gather more information and a booking link to schedule an hour-long Zoom interview. Participation in this study is entirely voluntary and can be stopped at any time. Your personal information will only be used to contact you to set up an interview and send you a gift card. You will be assigned a research participant number associated with your data, keeping your name and your data separate. All information associated with your participation in the study will be destroyed upon completion of the research.

Upon reaching the end of the interview, participants will be sent a \$5 Starbucks gift card to their email addresses.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact Paige Allen (<u>paige.allen@maine.edu</u>) or faculty advisor Daniel Puhlman (<u>daniel.puhlman@maine.edu</u>). Thank you for your time!

Help Needed: Research Study

 University of Maine researchers Paige Allen and Daniel Puhlman are working on the project "The Intersection of Ambitious Women & Parenting," exploring the circumstances surrounding careerambitious women and their decision to have children. We need your help!

- To Qualify, You Must Identify with 2/3:

We will buy you a cup of coffee!

A \$5 Starbucks Gift Card will be sent to your email upon responding to our study!

To Participate in the Study:

- 5 minute screening survey
- Qualify for the study
- 15 minute demographic survey
- Hour long Zoom interview



Scan this QR code to complete the



Questions? Comments? Want more information? Email undergraduate researcher paige.allen@maine.edu or faculty advisor daniel.puhlman@maine.edu!

Appendix C: Screening Survey

3/27/24, 10:11 PM

Screening Survey for Ambitious Women & Parenting Study

Screening Survey for Ambitious Women & Parenting Study

Please complete this survey if you want to participate in a study investigating the decisions to parent while building a career. If you meet the qualifications for the study, you will be sent an email with a 15 minute second survey to collect more in-depth information and a link to book an hour-long interview. All contact and personal information collected is for scheduling purposes only and will not be included in the study.

þ	ourposes only and will not be included in the study.
* n	dicates required question
1.	Email *

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/129N0oII3ub2JcWwv65RUjedAIIDq7NZBfIoK-GzPmQw/editalingwards with the property of the propert

Informed Consent

You are invited to participate in a project by Paige Allen, an undergraduate researcher and Honors College student supervised by Dr. Daniel Puhlman, faculty in the College of Education & Human Development at the University of Maine and head of the Parenting Relationships Research Lab. The project aims to help better understand the circumstances surrounding career-ambitious women and their decision to have children.

To qualify for this study, mothers must be:

- · At least 18 years of age
- Speak English
- · Have a child between the ages of 2 and 12 years
- · Work full time (at least 32 hours per week)
- Meet at least 2 of the 3 following criteria: 1) Have an advanced degree at or beyond a
 master's, 2) have 5 or more years of professional work experience, and/or 3) serve in a
 managerial or executive role.

What Will You Be Asked to Do?

If you are willing to participate in this study, you will be asked to fill out a confidential short, 5-minute survey asking about your career and familial/parenting life. If you qualify to participate in this study, a follow-up email will be sent to you requesting more information through a second confidential 15-minute survey and an hour-long Zoom interview, asking questions about your decision to have children and your experience being a working mother. If you qualify for the follow-up survey and interview, you must participate in the interview to be considered a part of the study. Answering the second demographic survey is not required, but is highly encouraged to provide the research team with background information. Before the interview begins, you will be asked if the interview can be recorded. If you do not consent to record the interview, the interviewer will jot down quick notes during the interview. A couple of interview questions include:

- Please tell me the circumstances surrounding the decision(s) you and your partner made to have children.
- . Do you have a family-friendly employer or work for a business that prioritizes family?
- · What is it like being a working mother?

Risks

The only potential risks to participants are a loss of time and added inconvenience.

Benefits

Benefits to you - There are no direct benefits to you for participating.

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/129N0oII3ub2JcWwv65RUjedAllDq7NZBfloK-GzPmQw/editallogNZBfloK-GzPmQw

3/27/24, 10:11 PM

Benefits to society – Your participation in this study will help provide a further understanding of the relationship between career-ambitious women and their decision to have children. Understanding what motivates successful women to have children and the barriers they may face could provide helpful insight for young women faced with the same crossroad, not to mention the fields of parenting and child development, sociology, and womens & gender studies.

Compensation

You will be sent a \$5 Starbucks gift card upon reaching the end of the interview (although you can skip questions). Gift cards will be sent out through email within 72 hours after the interview.

Confidentiality

You will be asked to input your name and email into the first confidential survey for contact purposes only. You will be assigned a participant number at the start of the study, linked to a master key. Your name or other identifying information will not be associated with your survey responses or your interview. The survey data will be deleted from Google Forms in August 2023. However, survey data will be transferred to a unique and separate database and stored indefinitely to allow for new methodologies. Data will be encrypted, linked to a master key, and stored on a password-protected computer that is only accessible to the research team. The key will be deleted on or before August 2023. Recordings of interviews will be deleted from Zoom within 72 hours of the interview. Recordings will be transcribed within 14 days after the interview and deleted from the password-protected computer immediately after transcription. Any notes taken during the interview will be stored on the password-protected computer indefinitely.

Voluntary

Participation is voluntary. If you choose to participate in this study, you may stop anytime. You may skip any questions you do not wish to answer or terminate the interview at any time. Your participation in the survey(s) and interview confirm your consent to participate.

Contact Information

If you have any questions about this study, please contact Paige Allen (paige.allen@maine.edu) or Faculty Advisor Dr. Daniel Puhlman (daniel.puhlman@maine.edu). If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, please contact the Office of Research Compliance, University of Maine, 207/581-2657 (or e-mail umric@maine.edu).

https://does.google.com/forms/d/129N0oII3ub2JeWwv65RUjedAllDq7NZBfIoK-GzPmQw/editallog/NZBfIoK

2.	Do you consent to participate in this resear consent.	ch study? Clicking "yes" indicates your	*
	Mark only one oval.		
	Yes		
	No		
Qı	uestions		
er bo th pr	ease answer the questions below. If you qualify nail with a second Google Forms survey that will boking link for an hour-long Zoom interview in the interview is required. The second survey is not ovide the research team with more information. It is partially for the study.	I take around 15 minutes to complete and e coming days. To participate in the study, required, but highly recommended to	
3.	Name		
4.	Email		
5.	Age		

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/129N0oII3ub2JcWwv65RUjedAllDq7NZBfIoK-GzPmQw/editallog/NZBfIoK

6.	Do you speak English?
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes
	No
	Other:
7.	Do you identify as a mother?
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes
	No
	Other:
8.	How many children do you have?
	Mark only one oval.
	None
	I am currently pregnant or in the process of adopting my first child
	<u> </u>
	2
	3
	<u> </u>
	Other:

 $https://docs.google.com/forms/d/129N0oII3ub2JcWwv65RUjedAllDq7NZBfIoK-GzPm\,Qw/edit$

5/8

9.	Does your child or children between the age of 2 and 12 years live at home?
9.	
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes
	No
	Other:
10.	Are you a legal guardian of your child or children?
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes
	No
	Other:
11.	Were any of your children born with severe diagnosed and documented disabilities?
12.	How long have you been working full-time (at least 32 hours a week) professionally
	in your field?
13.	Are you currently serving in a management or executive position?
10.	
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes
	○ No
	Other:

 $https://docs.google.com/forms/d/129N0oII3ub2JcWwv65RUjedAIIDq7NZBfloK-GzPm\,Qw/edit$

6/8

3/27/24, 10:11 PM	Screening Survey for Ambitious Women & Parenting Study
14.	What is your highest degree of education?
	Mark only one oval.
	Some high school
	High school or equivalent (GED)
	Some college but no diploma
	Bachelor's Degree
	Master's Degree
	Octorate Degree/PhD
	J.D
	◯ M.D
	Other:

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Google Forms

Appendix D: Follow-Up Email

Hello,

Thank you for your interest in participating in an undergraduate research project at the University of Maine! We are pleased to inform you that you qualify for a follow-up interview to discuss your career trajectory and parenting decisions. Please use this link to book an hour-long Zoom interview. Feel free to fast forward to any week or day that works for you. The blocks are an hour and a half long to allow for a break or technical difficulties, but the interview will only take one hour. After finishing the interview, you will be sent a \$5 Starbucks gift card to your email address. You may skip any question that you want to.

Please answer this <u>15-minute survey</u> to gather additional demographic information at least 2 days before your interview. This is needed to participate in the study. Again, thank you so much for participating and if you have any questions, please contact Paige Allen (paige.allen@maine.edu) or Dr. Daniel Puhlman (daniel.puhlman@maine.edu).

Your confidential research participant number is ______. Please change your Zoom name to this research participant number before our meeting.

Best, Paige Allen

Appendix E: Demographic Survey

3/28/24, 8:54 AM Demographic Survey

Demographic Survey

Thank you for your willingness to participate in this study. Please view this <u>informed consent</u> form before responding to this survey if you have not already. This questionnaire will provide more information about your demographics, parenting and career experiences before the interview.

i	interview.	
* ln	dicates required question	
1.	Research Participant Number *	
2.	Which race or ethnicity best describes you?	
	Mark only one oval.	
	American Indian or Alaskan Native	
	Asian/Pacific Islander	
	Black or African American	
	Hispanic	
	White/Caucasian	
	Prefer not to say	
	Other:	
3.	What kind of area do you live in?	
	Mark only one oval.	
	Rural	
	Suburban	
	Urban	
	Other:	

1/6

3/28		

Demographic Survey

4. On average, what is your individual, approximate yearly income? 5. What is your relationship with your child or children's other parent? Check all that apply. I am married to my child's or children's other parent I am widowed from my child's or children's other parent I am separated from my child's or children's other parent I am divorced from to my child's or children's other parent I live with my child's or children's other parent but we are not married I have no relationship with my child or children's other parent Other: How many people live in your household? Mark only one oval. O 2 Other: 7. Age(s) of your children

3/28/24, 8:54 AM	Demographic Survey
8	Are your children biological, adopted, or step-children?

8.	Are your children biological, adopted, or step-children?
	Check all that apply.
	Biological
	Adoptive
	Stepchild or children
	Other:
9.	On average, how often do your kids live with you?
	Mark only one oval.
	Full time
	5-6 days a week
	3-4 days a week
	1-2 days a week
	Other:
10.	What is your job title?
11.	What profession do you currently work in? Examples include food service, technology, law, medicine, and others.
	technology, law, medicine, and others.

3/28/24, 8:54 AM	Demographic Survey
12.	What are your typical working hours?
13.	Where do you work?
	Mark only one oval.
	At home
	In an office or space outside your home
	Hybrid
	Other:
14.	Please briefly describe your job and the day-to-day tasks that you perform in the
	workplace.
15.	Have you received any professional promotions or raises in the last five years?
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes
	◯ No
	Other:

3/28/24, 8:54 AM Demographic Survey

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Google Forms

Appendix F: Informed Consent

You are invited to participate in a project by Paige Allen, an undergraduate researcher and Honors College student supervised by Dr. Daniel Puhlman, faculty in the College of Education & Human Development at the University of Maine and head of the Parenting Relationships Research Lab. The project aims to help better understand the circumstances surrounding career-ambitious women and their decision to have children. To qualify for this study, mothers must be:

- At least 18 years of age
- Speak English
- Live in New England,
- Have a child between the ages of 2 and 12 years
- Work full time (at least 32 hours per week)
- Meet at least 2 of the 3 following criteria: 1) Have an advanced degree at or beyond a master's, 2) have 5 or more years of professional work experience, and/or 3) serve in a managerial or executive role.

What Will You Be Asked to Do?

If you are willing to participate in this study, you will be asked to fill out a confidential short, 5-minute survey asking about your career and familial/parenting life. If you qualify to participate in this study, a follow-up email will be sent to you requesting more information through a second confidential 15-minute survey and an hour-long Zoom interview, asking questions about your decision to have children and your experience being a working mother. If you qualify for the follow-up survey and interview, you must participate in the interview to be considered a part of the study. Answering the second demographic survey is not required, but is highly encouraged to provide the research team with background information. Before the interview begins, you will be asked if the interview can be recorded. If you do not consent to record the interview, the interviewer will jot down quick notes during the interview. A couple of interview questions include:

- Please tell me the circumstances surrounding the decision(s) you and your partner made to have children.
- Do you have a family-friendly employer or work for a business that prioritizes family?
- What is it like being a working mother?

Risks

The only potential risks to participants are a loss of time and added inconvenience.

Benefits

Benefits to you – There are no direct benefits to you for participating.

Benefits to society – Your participation in this study will help provide a further understanding of the relationship between career-ambitious women and their decision to have children. Understanding what motivates successful women to have children and the barriers they may face could provide helpful insight for young women faced with the same crossroad, not to mention the fields of parenting and child development, sociology, and women & gender studies.

Compensation

You will be sent a \$5 Starbucks gift card upon reaching the end of the interview (although you can skip questions). Gift cards will be sent out through email within 72 hours after the interview.

Confidentiality

You will be asked to input your name and email into the first confidential survey for contact purposes only. You will be assigned a participant number at the start of the study, linked to a master key. Your name or other identifying information will not be associated with your survey responses or your interview. The survey data will be deleted from Google Forms in August 2023. However, survey data will be transferred to a unique and separate database and stored indefinitely to allow for new methodologies. Data will be encrypted, linked to a master key, and stored on a password-protected computer that is only accessible to the research team. The key will be deleted on or before August 2023. Recordings of interviews will be deleted from Zoom within 72 hours of the interview. Recordings will be transcribed within 14 days after the interview and deleted from the password-protected computer immediately after transcription. Any notes taken during the interview will be stored on the password-protected computer indefinitely.

Voluntary

Participation is voluntary. If you choose to participate in this study, you may stop anytime. You may skip any questions you do not wish to answer or terminate the interview at any time. Your participation in the survey(s) and interview confirm your consent to participate.

Contact Information

If you have any questions about this study, please contact Paige Allen (paige.allen@maine.edu) or Faculty Advisor Dr. Daniel Puhlman (daniel.puhlman@maine.edu). If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, please contact the Office of Research Compliance, University of Maine, 207/581-2657 (or e-mail umric@maine.edu).

Appendix G: Interview Script

Hello, thank you for your willingness to participate in my research study! I will now remind you of some informed consent highlights before we begin.

- Participation is voluntary. If you choose to participate in this study, you may stop anytime. You may skip any questions you do not wish to answer or terminate the interview anytime. Your participation in the survey(s) and interview confirm your consent to participate.
- Do you consent to have the interview recorded? Recording the interview will allow the research team to transcribe it. Recordings will be deleted from Zoom within 72 hours and will be deleted from the password-protected computer after transcription (14 days after the interview). If you do not consent to recording the interview, I will take notes on my password-protected computer.
- Your personal information is not connected to any part of the interview process.

It is possible that several participants will be invited to be a part of a panel to talk about their experiences being a working mother. The panel would be on the University of Maine, Orono Campus in the early weeks of December 2023. You and other participants would be asked a couple of interview questions in a public setting for a presentation of my project.

Thank you for listening. Do you have any questions before we begin?

- 1. Tell me about your career.
 - A. Are you excited about going to work each day?
- 2. Do you have a family-friendly employer or work for a business that prioritizes family?
 - A. Are many women in your workplace mothers? Does the company or business you work for prioritize or discredit motherhood?
 - B. Did you take additional time off (beyond maternity leave) when or after you had children?
- 3. Please tell me the circumstances surrounding the decision(s) you and your partner made to have children. Was this a conscious decision? Did you talk about having children before entering a serious relationship?
 - A. If you parent with a partner or spouse in the household, are they supportive of your career ambitions?
- 2. Please describe your domestic responsibilities. How do you work with your partner in your home?
 - A. How do you divide domestic work in your household?
 - B. Do you feel that work or home is a safe space for you? Do you have another safe space, away from either environment?
 - C. How do you make time for yourself?

- 5. What is it like being a working mother?
 - A. Did you ever dream of becoming a mother?
 - B. Did you ever dream of having a successful career?
- 6. What is it like being a mother? How do you parent? What is your parenting style/philosophy?
 - A. How do you parent while balancing your work?
- 7. Given what you know now if you could start again before building a career and/or family, is there anything you would do differently?
 - A. Do you feel that your career was hindered when you had children?
 - B. Do you consider yourself successful in your career? Is it possible to "do it all?" Why or why not?

Thank you so much for participating in my research study.

Appendix H: Demographic Chart

				Age of		Years			
		Incom	Marital	Childre	Adoptive/Biologi	Workin	Educatio	Ag	
Name	Area	e (\$)	Status	n	cal	g	n	e	Field
Kathlee		350,00					Bachelor'		Tech Startup
n	Urban	0	Married	12	Biological	25	s	48	(software)
	Suburba	200,00		7, 6, 6					Pharmaceutic
Grace	n	0	Married	months	Biological	15	Master's	40	al
	Suburba	250,00					Bachelor'		
Lilah	n	0	Married	8	Biological	17	S	40	Engineering
		55,000					Bachelor'		Collegiate
Mia	Rural		Married	4	Biological	8	S	29	Athletics
_	n .	85,000			m: 1 : 1			2.5	Higher
Ragan	Rural	40.000	Married	9, 9	Biological	11	Master's	35	Education
V	D1	40,000	C 1	4	D:-1:-1	5	Some college	25	A
Kerrie	Rural	85,000	Separated	4	Biological	3	Associate	23	Animal Care
Amelia	Rural	83,000	Married	18, 10	Biological	25	's	50	Healthcare
Amena	Kurai		Marricu	16, 10	Diological	23	5	30	Education
		100,00							Administrati
Hannah	Rural	0	Married	12, 8	Biological	17	Master's	44	on
	1101111		No	12,0	Biological	1,	1,145,61.5		Post-
		55,000	relationshi						Secondary
Alice	Urban		р	12	Biological	10	Master's	45	Education
		65,000	•		U				K-12
Ava	Rural		Married	11	Biological	21	Master's	47	Education
	Suburba	200,00							
Jane	n	0	Divorced	9, 9	Biological	18	Master's	42	Recruiting
	Suburba	32,000		19, 10,	Biological,				
Ruth	n		Married	8, 6	Stepchild	13	Master's	37	Nonprofit
Charlott		62,000		2, 1		_			Higher
e	Rural	125.00	Married	month	Biological	5	PhD	32	Education
NT:	Suburba	135,00	Manniad	15, 13,	D:-1:-1	22	Mantaula	4.4	K-12 Education
Nina	n	0	Married Divorced	11	Biological	23	Master's	44	Education
		110,00	and	16, 14,	Adoptive,				Nonprofit
Sadie	Rural	0	remarried	7	Stepchild	12	Master's	43	Management
Saure	Suburba	155,00	remarried	,	Biological,	12	iviaster s	73	Higher
Норе	n	0	Married	27, 11	Adoptive	22	PhD	46	Education
	Suburba	150.00		,	·F····		Bachelor'		Supply Chain
Bridgit	n	0	Married	13, 11	Biological	17	s	39	Management
Melanie		60,000		,					Higher
	Rural		Married	12	Adoptive	25	PhD	52	Education
		100,00							Higher
Ellie	Rural	0	Married	5	Biological	12	Master's	37	Education
									Housing
		48,000							Counseling
Sharon	Rural		Married	15, 2	Biological	12	Master's	43	& Education

AUTHOR'S BIOGRAPHY

Paige Allen is graduating from the University of Maine in May of 2024 with a major in Sociology and minors in Legal Studies, Ethics & Political Philosophy, and Women, Gender, and Sexuality Studies in the Honors College. She is from Mendon, Massachusetts, and completed her primary and secondary education through the Mendon Upton Regional School District. At the University of Maine, Paige is involved in Student Government as the Vice President of Financial Affairs, the Pre-Law Society as President, the Club Field Hockey Team, and the Parenting Relationships Research Lab as an undergraduate research assistant.

During summers, Paige interned for the Volunteer Lawyers Project and Harrison Barrow, Attorney at Law, and waitressed. During her undergraduate career, Paige was awarded honors from All Maine Women, Phi Kappa Phi, Iota Iota Iota, Alpha Kappa Delta, and Phi Sigma Tau. She was also awarded the James S. Stevens Outstanding Junior Award from the College of Liberal Arts and Sciences, the Servant Heart Scholarship, a fellowship from the McGillicuddy Humanities Center, and the Esther Randall Bacus '44 Presidential Leadership Scholarship. Outside of school, Paige likes to explore Maine's trails, read, spend time with friends, watch 2010's sitcoms, and crochet. She is interested in family and juvenile law, parenting, and indigent and juvenile defense. She is enrolled at the Maine School of Law starting in Fall 2024 and hopes to become a family services attorney.